

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Strategies Call Center Managers Use to Reduce Employee **Turnover**

Sheena R. Wheeler Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Sheena Wheeler

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. William Stokes, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Ronald Black, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Strategies Call Center Managers Use to Reduce Employee Turnover

by

Sheena Wheeler

MS, Bellevue University, 2012

BS, Bellevue University, 2010

Doctoral Study for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2023

Abstract

Excessive employee turnover can disrupt an organization's efficient operational performance. Call center managers remain concerned with excessive employee turnover due to the expense of lost productivity, recruiting, and training new employees. Grounded in Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation, the intent of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies call center managers use to reduce employee turnover. The participants consisted of five managers in one financial service call center in Nebraska who used successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. Data was collected using semistructured interviews and a review of the employee handbook. Four themes emerged through Yin's 5-step process: communication, motivation, culture, and personal relationships. A key recommendation for managers is to conduct satisfaction surveys regularly for employees to provide feedback on their satisfaction with the workplace. The implications for positive social change include financial stability for their employees, improved local economic conditions, and reduced unemployment rates in their communities.

Strategies Call Center Managers Use to Reduce Employee Turnover

by

Sheena Wheeler

MS, Bellevue University, 2012

BS, Bellevue University, 2010

Doctoral Study for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my family. Although I come from a small, tight-knit family, they have all been incredibly supportive. To my husband, Rodney, who is truly my strength and makes me better every day by just being himself. I do not think he realizes daily how much he has made my life better, nor would he take any credit for it. His education and beautifully intelligent mind pulled out the competitor in me to push harder. To my sons, Amarion and Elijah, who give me purpose. I want nothing more than to be someone they look up to, admire, and realize that you can do anything; you have to want it enough. You are my reason for everything I do, and the reason I wake up each morning to be even better than I was yesterday. My bonus daughter, Malia, has contributed so much to whom I am today by letting me be part of her life and share in the amazing human she has always been.

My mother, Charlotte, and my sister Chay; my day ones, we are resilient. You two are the reason I am who I am, through thick and thin; we did much of this life as one unit. You two have gone through so many things that should have knocked you down, but I witnessed you keep going, which is why that is what I do. I never knew any different. I never saw it in the women I watched and admired the most. My dad, John "Buzz" Eaglehopper, who always knew I could do more than I thought capable. Who always told me most people have only one fire burning inside them, but I have two. My bonus Dad, Rick, who loves me like his own, is supportive beyond measure. My in-laws and grandparents encouraged me to keep going, or always asked how it was going and cared about my progress.

Acknowledgments

First, I acknowledge some professional mentors that have impacted me throughout my career and, in one way or another, encouraged me to complete my doctorate, or had faith in me as a businesswoman. First, Dale Henderson has been not only my co-worker, but my best friend since the day we started working together. I have had some fantastic mentors and inspirational leaders in my 15 years in business: Don Ricketts, Judy Ricketts, Aaron Hodgson, Staci Sullivan, Rob Morrissey, Michael Brothers, Kira Carter, Zachary Braun, and Chris Bohlsen. I also have had outstanding mentorship from Dr. William Stokes and Dr. Ronald Black, and although I may have driven him to full retirement mid-program, Dr. Ron Jones. It would also be right to acknowledge my team members who started the leadership journey with me years ago and worked hard every day. The ladies who may look to me for leadership but allow me to learn from them daily are Katrina Forney, Markie Baker, Bailey Eirish, and Michelle Willems. Lastly, the participants of this study were willing to open up to me and be vulnerable on what leadership means, and even where they may have struggled at times to find the key to success. Thank you all for being a part of something so meaningful to me and my legacy.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	.V
List of Figures	vi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	.1
Background of the Problem	.1
Problem and Purpose	.2
Population and Sampling	.2
Nature of the Study	.3
Research Question	.5
Interview Questions	.5
Conceptual Framework	.5
Operational Definitions	.6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	.7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	7
Significance of the Study	.8
Contribution to Business Practice	8
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	.9
Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory of Motivation	l 1
Vroom's Expectancy Theory of Motivation	14

	Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs	15
	Participation Theory	16
	Transformational Leadership	18
	Theory of Burnout	20
	Cause of Employee Turnover	22
	Low Satisfaction	25
	Lack of Motivation or Hygiene Factors	27
	Social Impact	28
	Employee Effects	30
	Client Effects	31
	Organizational Effects	33
	Call Centers	34
	History	36
	Operational Aspects	38
,	Transition	45
Sect	tion 2: The Project	46
	Purpose Statement	46
	Role of the Researcher	46
	Participants	48
	Research Method and Design	49
	Population and Sampling	52
	Ethical Research	54

	Data Collection Instruments	55
	Data Collection Technique	56
	Data Organization Technique	59
	Data Analysis	60
	Reliability and Validity	62
	Reliability	62
	Validity	63
	Transition and Summary	65
Sec	ction 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	66
	Introduction	66
	Presentation of the Findings	66
	Theme 1: Communication	69
	Theme 2: Motivation	71
	Theme 3: Culture	73
	Theme 4: Personal Relationships	74
	Applications to Professional Practice	77
	Implications for Social Change	78
	Recommendations for Action	79
	Recommendations for Further Research	80
	Reflections	81
	Conclusion	83
R۵	ferences	8/1

Appendix A: Interview Protocol	.1	06	E
--------------------------------	----	----	---

List of Tables

Table 1: Percentage of Coverage of Themes Found Throughout Interview Questions....69

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Words Most Frequently	Identified in Interview	Transcripts	68
	· · · · - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover is costly to an organization and can disrupt customer service, reduce performance, impede organizational diversity, and expand the workload of remaining employees. On average, replacing one call center employee is estimated to cost over \$6,000, which includes recruiting, hiring, training, and additional supervisory time (Ro & Lee, 2017). The average annual turnover rate for call center employees in industrialized nations is twenty seven percent (Valle et al., 2017). By retaining talent in a call center, managers can help reduce costs in recruiting and training and reduce the lost productivity resulting from high employee turnover (Aliyu & Nyadzayo, 2016).

Background of the Problem

Call centers have become a valuable resource for managing customer experience, yet they have a reputation for generating high-pressure work environments with corresponding high turnover rates (Baek & Lee, 2018). One motivating factor for employees who quit is ineffective management, which negatively influences employee motivation and engagement before leading to excessive employee turnover (Dhanpat et al., 2018). Employee turnover intentions also disrupt the effective operational performance of call centers due to the transfer of human capital (Ceblano et al., 2019). By retaining knowledgeable, productive employees, business managers experience increased worker productivity, improved profitability, and higher customer satisfaction (Pérez-Luño et al., 2016). Accordingly, researching employee engagement may have value for managers seeking to improve employee retention and enhance profitability. This study focused on job engagement to explore call center employees' intent to quit.

Problem and Purpose

Ineffective management in call centers disrupts associates' motivation and engagement, leading to excessive employee turnover (Dhanpat et al., 2018). The average annual turnover rate for all employees in call centers in industrialized nations is 27%; however, only 25% of call center sales agents remain in their position for more than 2 months (Valle et al., 2017). The general business problem is that poor management in call centers can lead to excessive employee turnover. The specific business problem is that some managers of call centers lack strategies to reduce employee turnover.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population was five financial service call center managers in Nebraska who used successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. The results of this study could contribute to social change by creating increased financial stability for call center employees, improving local economic conditions, and reducing unemployment rates in their communities.

Population and Sampling

To provide information-rich cases so that leaders and companies can learn about the important issues at hand, I used purposeful sampling. The population consisted of five managers in a single call center in Omaha, NE. I selected participants who met the following qualifications: (a) must be a manager in a financial service call center, (b) must have applied strategies to reduce employee turnover, and (c) must have at least 1 year of team leadership experience.

A small population sample is acceptable in a case study, but the more detailed the description of the population and sub-populations, the better the results (van Rijnsoever, 2017). With much discussion in academia on population sizes, qualitative case study researchers use smaller groups of participants to interview (Vasileiou et al., 2018). By using smaller groups, researchers are better able to manage the complexity of the analytic undertaking as part of their research. Both the selection process and the interview setting were virtual. I conducted the interviews through a personal virtual conference account, with the privacy tools enabled to ensure confidentiality. Virtual conferencing was appropriate due to Covid-19 concerns and safety protocols limiting in-person meetings or comfort levels. Furthermore, I was able to have quick and effortless access to participants.

Data saturation was achieved when all new information became repetitive (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). Once I no longer had new evidence and began to see replicated responses, I knew I had reached data saturation and could begin to validate the interview data. Researchers can reach data saturation by using the proper sample size and by constructing a saturation grid listing the major topics or research questions against interviews or other sources (Chakraborty & Goto, 2020). To reach data saturation, I followed my interview protocol in questioning and conducting member checking.

Nature of the Study

Three primary research methods exist: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed method (Saunders et al., 2015). Qualitative researchers explore real-world problems through open discussion with participants and review supporting documentation to gain

rich insightful data (House, 2018). I used the qualitative method to explore a real-world problem by engaging participants in open dialogue and reviewing relevant documents. In contrast, quantitative researchers collect numeric data to statistically test hypotheses, characterize variables, and explore relationships among predictor and criterion variables (Goertzen, 2017). I rejected the quantitative method because analyzing variables' characteristics or testing the significance of relationship among variables would not result in an answer to the research question. The mixed method is a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods (Goertzen, 2017). I rejected the mixed method because there is no need to combine the qualitative and quantitative methods to address the purpose of my study.

I considered using three qualitative research designs: a case study, ethnography, and phenomenology. Researchers conducting a case study use descriptive research to address a real-world problem within a bounded setting (Lambert & Lambert, 2012; Yin, 2018). I used the case study design to explore the real-world problem of employee turnover within the boundaries of a call center. Researchers use the single case study design to provide a holistic, robust account of a specific issue within a single company or case (Yin, 2018). I chose the single case study design to provide an all-inclusive account of the strategies used by managers in one call center to reduce employee turnover. Ethnographic researchers focus on the meaning of customs and cultures of a group of people (Hill et al., 2017). The ethnographic design is not suitable for my proposed study because I focused on customs or cultures within the call center. Further, phenomenological researchers focus on the personal meanings of the lived experiences of

participants (Alase, 2017). I did not propose to explore the personal meanings of the call center managers' lived experiences; therefore, I rejected the phenomenological design.

Research Question

RQ: What strategies do managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you found most effective in reducing employee turnover?
- 2. How do you measure the effectiveness of strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 3. What were the principal issues in your workplace considered for developing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 4. How did your employees react to your strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 5. What key challenges did you encounter in implementing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 6. How did you overcome the challenges associated with implementing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 7. How do you promote the strategies to reduce employee turnover in the organization?
- 8. What additional information can you offer about the strategies you use to reduce employee turnover?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this qualitative single case study is the two-factory theory of motivation developed by Herzberg et al. (1959). Herzberg et al. studied factors

that caused employee satisfaction or dissatisfaction in the workplace, categorizing the two factors as hygiene and motivation factors. Properly addressing both factors can lead to retaining employees and reducing employee turnover. Hygiene factors include (a) company policy and administration, (b) salary, (c) supervision, (d) status, (e) interpersonal relations, (f) job security, (g) personal life, and (h) working conditions (Lalwani & Lalwani, 2017). Motivational factors include (a) achievement, (b) career advancement, (c) recognition, (d) level of responsibility, (e) the job itself, and (f) growth (Herzberg, 1968).

Herzberg et al. (1959) provided a two-factor theory to offer additional research for understanding reasons for employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction. Unmotivated, dissatisfied employees tend to leave a company at far higher rates than motivated, satisfied employees (Saxena et al., 2018). Herzberg et al.'s two-factor theory of motivation may be an effective lens for this proposed study because managers need to recognize that motivation and hygiene factors affect the rate of employee turnover.

Operational Definitions

Burnout: Burnout is an emotional exhaustion response cause by work-related stress (Echchakoui & Baakil, 2019).

Retention: Retention is employee harmony based on care from the organization, allowing the associate to want to remain in and keep contributing to the vision of an organization (Chan, 2019).

Turnover: Turnover is the motivational desire by employees to leave an organization (Zimmerman et al., 2019).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are facts that researchers assume to be true without evidence for verification (Wolgemuth et al., 2017). Three assumptions affected this qualitative single case study. The first assumption was that a qualitative descriptive single case study is the best method to research this topic for collecting relevant comprehensive, accurate, and up to date documentation related to the business problem. The second assumption was that all participants will be honest with their responses, and each participant responded to the questions to the best of his or her ability. Participant dishonesty can skew results and nullify the entire study. The final assumption was that respondents would have sufficient knowledge and experience to provide quality data to answer the research question.

Limitations

Limitations refer to potential weaknesses of the study that are out of the researcher's control (Hughes et al., 2019). Two limitations affected this qualitative descriptive single case study. One limitation was that a small sample size may limit the scope of data that determine the quality of the research. Another limitation was that respondents may not fully recall past experiences or, through lapses in memory or judgment, may contribute to less than comprehensive data.

Delimitations

Delimitations are characteristics that limit the scope and define the boundaries of a study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). There are several delimitations for this qualitative single case study. The first delimitation was that the geographical location was

confined to the midwest region of the United States. A second delimitation was that the sample size was limited to a single call center and five call center managers. Finally, call center managers must have used retention strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Significance of the Study

Business managers and leaders in call centers might find value in the findings of this study because of gaining knowledge regarding successful strategies for reducing employee turnover. Call center managers may also use the findings from this study to create and evaluate the success of the current strategies the organizations are using to retain call center employees to reduce costs and increase profitability. Managers of call centers can enable beneficial social change in their local communities by reducing employee turnover.

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings from this single case study are potentially significant because the findings may be useful for call center managers to improve their business practices through implementing successful strategies to retain talented employees and reduce employee turnover. By retaining talent in call centers, managers can help reduce recruiting and training costs, and reduce the amount of lost productivity resulting from high employee turnover (Aliyu & Nyadzayo, 2016). Business managers experience increased worker productivity, improved profitability, and higher customer satisfaction because of retaining knowledge and productive employees (Pérez-Luño et al., 2016).

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for managers of call centers to create increased financial stability for their employees, improve local economic conditions, and reduce unemployment rates in their communities. Managers and leaders of call centers can improve community prosperity by reducing employee turnover (Saxena et al., 2018). Businesses managers who experience low employee turnover can provide the societal benefits of reduced local unemployment rates, more stable local economies, and improved financial stability for their employees and families (Stephan et al., 2016).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that business leaders can use to reduce employee turnover in different call centers. I reviewed the literature using existing theories of motivation including Herberg's two-factor theory, Vroom's expectancy theory, Maslow's hierarchy of needs and participation theory, all with the intent to focus on proven theories of motivation to create retention. The literature review included peer-reviewed articles, books, journals, dissertations, websites, and sources found through the Walden University Library that focused on transformational leadership, employee turnover, motivation theories, job satisfaction, the impact of burnout, and employee retention. The literature review also included synthesis and analysis of sources from the literature about voluntary employee turnover broken down into two sections.

The study of Herzberg et al. categorized the two factors as hygiene and motivation factors. Properly addressing both of these factors can lead to retaining employees and reducing employee turnover. Hygiene factors include (a) company policy and administration, (b) salary, (c) supervision, (d) status, (e) interpersonal relations, (f) job security, (g) personal life, and (h) working conditions (Lalwani & Lalwani, 2017). Motivational factors include (a) achievement, (b) career advancement, (c) recognition, (d) level of responsibility, (e) the job itself, and (f) growth (Herzberg, 1968).

The second part contains a discussion of call centers, voluntary employee turnover, job dissatisfaction, organizational culture, burnout, retention strategy, skills training, motivation, and employee engagement. I organized the two parts in a systematized manner and compared all the information to evaluate how the findings from this review could relate to voluntary employee turnover. The literature I collected through available databases were from ProQuest Central and Google Scholar. From my search through different databases, 89% percent of the references reviewed were published from 2017 to 2022, and 96% were peer-reviewed sources.

Using keywords in my database search was crucial for finding publications more relevant to my study and that focused on voluntary employee turnover in many different organizations. I conducted searches using the following keywords: *employee retention*, *job satisfaction, training and development, transformational leadership, employee motivation, burnout*, and *call center turnover*. To find articles published within 5 years of my anticipated completion date, I searched for articles and journals within that period.

The articles were not limited to publications in the United States, but also included other countries with large call center representation.

Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory of Motivation

One of the most researched topics when identifying call center retention and theories of motivation to retain talent in call centers is Frederick Herzberg's (1968) twofactor theory of motivation. Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation is used to research employee satisfaction and reduce employee turnover. Hygiene factors include (a) company policy and administration, (b) salary, (c) supervision, (d) status, (e) interpersonal relations, (f) job security, (g) personal life, and (h) working conditions. Motivational factors include (a) achievement, (b) career advancement, (c) recognition, (d) level of responsibility, (e) the job itself, and (f) growth. The two-factor motivation theory indicates the importance of pursuing a career that will create joy beyond meeting basic hygiene factors, as well as identifying whether a job meets motivational standards. Unmotivated, dissatisfied employees tend to leave a company at far higher rates than motivated, satisfied employees (Saxena et al., 2018). Understanding Herzberg's twofactor theory of motivation will allow managers to utilize hygiene factors and identify what motivates their employees to stay, and therefore help them to retain the existing talent on their teams.

Hygiene Factors

Hygiene factors are fundamental motivators that influence people to stay at their jobs and create referrals to the organizations. According to Herzberg's two-factor motivation theory, the presence of hygiene factors themselves do not increase motivation,

but a lack of hygiene factors leads to dissatisfaction (Ozsoy, 2019). Hygiene factors include company policy and administration, supervision, relationship with supervisor, working conditions, salary, and relationship with peers, personal relationship, relationship with subordinates, status, and security. Additional considerations should be considered, such as work factors at the time in which the participant is in an organization (Chiat & Panatik, 2019). At the beginning of their career the employee may desire more growth or responsibility, but once they have reached a higher job title or role, this becomes less of a requirement for them to stay motivated. Opportunity for advancement at that current time either enlightens others or creates an unfavorable environment. Research using the two-factor theory also indicated that factors such as responsibility, recognition, and growth were less of a motivator in the role for a white-collar employee (Ozsoy, 2019). A manager's ability to recognize and utilize these motivation factors as a tool can lead to retention of their current employees.

Motivation Factors

Motivations factors can be explained as the factors that affect job satisfaction, as well as a means for managers looking to retain employees to their company. Job satisfaction positively affects employee performance and retention (Shaikh et al., 2019). In contrast, job dissatisfaction negatively affects employees' performance and leads to turnover. Some of the motivational factors, as discussed, include recognition, opportunities for promotion, or growth opportunities. Additionally, in a study of 409 employees, self-efficacy directed intrinsic motivation factors for engagement; this means the key to improving employee engagement relies on maintaining motivation factors

(Miao et al. 2020). Self-efficacy is the employee's belief in their capabilities to organize and execute courses of action to achieve desired performance. The way that an employee sees their capabilities relates to their motivation. Without that intrinsic motivator, employees will leave the firm, and managers will again be tasked with hiring and replacing the employee.

Managers who are aware of these motivational factors and strategically align their leadership practices to these factors will see less turnover on their teams and in their organization. Communication, institutional practices, and tools expertise can help motivate and retain employees (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). Further, what motivates one employee might not motivate another. Although some employees are motivated through their own performance and recognition for that performance, others would like to see monetary recognition. Non-monetary rewards and competence development opportunities are more appealing and beneficial for increasing autonomous motivation and reducing turnover (Mustafa & Ali, 2019; Naseeb et al., 2019). However, monetary motivation also may enhance autonomous motivation by boosting feelings of relatedness. Because cultural characteristics affect employees' reactions to certain stimuli within a culture, further research could include similar motivation inquiries in other cultures that might be more motivated by one type of reward than another (Fusch et al. 2017). In summary, managers who identify motivation factors that are different, based on the needs of the employee, will see more success in retention than those that choose a one-size-fits-all approach to motivation factors and retention.

Vroom's Expectancy Theory of Motivation

Victor Vroom was a professor of psychology from the Yale School of Management. Vroom studied what motivated people, determining that there are three factors to motivation: expectancy, instrumentality, and valence. As a cognitive theory of motivation, Victor Vroom's expectancy theory focuses on instinctively logical human behavior. Based on Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation, individuals make decisions based on the option that will lead to the most desirable personal outcome, one which optimizes pleasure and minimizes pain (Zboja et al., 2020). The initial motive for creating expectancy theory was to explain motivation and the deliberate choice made by an employee when options are available. When employees are given choices, they feel more empowered and motivated to stay with their current company, and their work, no matter the tenure, will produce a sustainable product (Zboja et al., 2020). Although improvements have been made to this theory, such as Lawler's expectancy theory, the theory still indicates that employees have a desire to be motivated to stay with their current organization, or they will leave in hopes of finding another organization that will motivate them to be more successful and productive (Foktas & Jucevičienė, 2021).

Valance refers to the personal and emotional orientation people hold to outcome (Agah, 2019). Instrumentality is the belief that if you perform well, an appreciated outcome will follow. Instrumentality and valence focus on choices, satisfaction with roles, and level of performance in a chosen work role (Watters, 2021). In a study of 24 faculty members at a university in South Texas, researchers found that there was a reduction in productivity for post-tenured faculty by 42%, which they believed to be due

to valence because employees already felt they reached a level of success (Agah, 2019). Utilizing Vroom's theory, managers that strategically coach and provide a development plan for their employees could retain employees that feel there is no more growth to be had in their current role or company.

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Maslow's hierarchy of needs is a theory that states human actions are motivated by physiological needs. Maslow formulated human needs into a hierarchy pyramid that illustrates how employees are motivated depending on the work itself and work environment. Maslow's hierarchy pyramid starts on the bottom with necessities like food and water, known as physiological needs (Navy, 2020). Moving up the pyramid, the next level of hierarchy is security, health, and well-being, termed safety needs. The following includes family, friends, and overall love and belonging. The last two levels move to conceptual notions such as self-esteem and self-actualization. According to Maslow, when lower needs are met, the following need on the hierarchy becomes a focus of attention (Stefan et al. 2020). Additionally, motivation comes from intrinsic forces, meaning an individual is willing to pursue an activity for self-satisfaction (Cho & Chui, 2021). Because employees are all human and have needs, this theory is beneficial to managers that are strategically working to retain the human on their team through meeting their needs in business.

In business, Maslow's theory allows leaders to recognize that their employees strive to meet their basic needs before seeking to satisfy a higher set of needs until they grow to become self-actualized, or all that they can be. Under this theory, leaders who

understand human needs can effectively motivate and retain their staff. When looking at Maslow's theory in the workplace, happiness leads to productivity because employees are experiencing positive emotions (Stewart et al., 2018). The way to achieve happiness is by meeting needs of well-being that include job satisfaction, lack of emotional exhaustion, and overall psychological well-being. Further, a survey of 2,013 employees from a wide range of business sectors showed that an effective workplace design is important for employee productivity and retention, allowing for collaboration and innovation with their management (Grant et al., 2019). Meeting the physical needs of employees alone and having an effective workplace design estimated a twenty one percent increase in productivity (Grant et al., 2019). Although a manager in a call center cannot control every need for their employees directly, understanding the importance of these needs can help them balance employees' needs based on Maslow's theory.

Participation Theory

Participation theory is the idea that everyone needs to be involved in development decision and implementation of strategic initiatives. Overall, the goal of participation theory in the workplace is to allow employees to feel heard or be valuable resources within their organization; however, the trouble with participation theory is that employees do not see leadership in the same way that managers views leadership. According to McGregor, leadership motivation has two separate constructs, and the same approach cannot be used with everyone. Theory X emphasizes closer supervision, rewards or recognition, and discipline. Theory Y highlights the motivating role of job satisfaction and encourages workers to be empowered to make decisions. Theory X managers believe

that employees are generally lazy or untrustworthy, lacking the ability or desire to contribute ideas and creativity toward organizational goals and success (Prottas & Nummelin, 2018). On the other hand, Theory Y managers view employees as generally honest and hardworking. Psychological safety mediates the relationship between Theory Y and the dependent variables of Y (Prottas & Nummelin, 2018). Managers that are aware that you cannot drive or encourage employees exactly the same from one employee to the next, could have a strategy for retention through personalization of what type of worker they are.

Theory X and Y apply to motivation through opposite forms of drive. Theory X is motivation through external rewards like pay or penalties like supervision. Theory Y is in contrast, employees are motivated by the work they are doing and having a sense of accomplishment. The view is that employee attitudes and behaviors will be affected by their perceptions of their manager's leadership style (Stefanovska-Petkovska et al., 2019). Theory X and Theory Y can affect employee motivation and productivity differently. Younger employees prefer to receive guidance, whereas older tenured employees prefer to have more empowerment in their career (Stefanovska-Petkovska et al., 2019). Further, when McGregor's concept is applied to real world scenarios, it is argued that participation places unrealistic demands on people and their time. In a top-down approach, a manager tells the employee what to do. and they do it; there is little risk aside from human error (Butt & Ahmad, 2019). When managers ask employees to participate in the development of strategic goals and ideas, they are asking them to put more time and professional risk of rejection or failure on them. Employees may not view that as

their job to make those kinds of decisions, whereas others may welcome the empowerment and responsibility. Using this theory, a manager can motivate and encourage their employees in their role, promoting a harmonious feeling, and in turn retaining them on their team or in their company.

Transformational Leadership

Leadership strategy to retain employees is the core focus of this study. Therefore, understanding leadership styles are important. Transformational leadership is a management theory where leaders coach beyond their immediate self-interests.

Transformational leadership is one of the most important perspectives in leadership studies. Since transformational leaders are aware of the individual needs of their followers, they strive to create suitable environments for the professional and personal development of those individuals, leading to a more satisfied team (Cavazotte et al., 2020). Transformational leaders identify necessary change and create a vision to guide the change through influence and inspiration. Transformational leadership allows managers to implement changes in partnership with committed members of a team (Banks et al., 2016). Transformational leadership strategies do not differentiate between an individual or a team, nor do they compare the team and all the individuals that belong to the team. Managers who understand what their leadership style is can help educate themselves on if they are effectively leading their team.

Multisource survey data from a group of employees from technology firms with a dual focus on transformational leadership found that individual contributor employees under transformational leadership had a positive unintended effect on individual

creativity (Dong et al. 2017). This unintended consequence came from individual skill development itself. However, team-wide transformational leadership impacted the teams' creativity through knowledge sharing. Knowledge sharing itself between team members created a relationship among individual employee's transformational leadership experience to achieve skill development and individual creativity and retain knowledge within the company.

Transformational leadership strategies impact teams' overall engagement, and transformational leaders have proactive personalities (Buil et al. 2019). The proactive personality trait of transformational leaders strengthens the effect of leadership on identification and engagement. One study of 543 employees and 106 managers focused on hotel managers to find why and under what circumstances employees perform the way they do (Liu & Huang, 2020). A strong relationship exists between transformational leadership and frontline employee performance through knowledge transfer (Liu & Huang, 2020). The knowledge transfer between the transformational leaders to their employees allowed the employees to have more human capital and creative behaviors.

Transformational leadership allows the group to work as a team. When utilized correctly, transformational leadership establishes a relationship for sharing tacit knowledge between the manager and the employee. The employee can then use that knowledge sharing and empowerment of knowing what their manager knows to make creative decisions in the workplace. The knowledge sharing and empowerment from transformational leadership supports other motivational theories by bringing enthusiasm into the workplace and encouraging continued learning. Transformational leadership

encourages preservation and therefore supports employee growth, development, and company knowledge retention.

Theory of Burnout

Understanding effective leadership strategies, managers can create a culture to retain their employees and abstain from burnout. There is a need across all workforces to have a skilled group of employees; therefore, motivating and retaining those top talent employees becomes increasingly important (Drissi et al. 2021). Without retention, there is an ongoing need to hire, train, and motivate new employees. Training new hires regularly can cause burnout to existing employees. According to the theory of burnout, the goal is to keep from exhausting current employees both physically and psychologically (Drissi et al. 2021). A burned-out employee will have low productivity and may choose to leave the organization taking all of their tacit knowledge with them. Burnout is an interpersonal theory with extrinsic consequences so understanding the leading indicators of burnout is advantageous to their retention.

Recruitment into a role, training to prepare for a role, promotions within and outside of the role, and work environment affect employees' retention and level of burnout in a call center. Burnout is the determining factor of turnover within call centers. Contact center staffing groups utilize multiple models to identify how best to staff their call centers. If done incorrectly, companies may see these staffing groups as the main reason for disengagement or burnout. Although managers alone cannot control this aspect of call centers, they do play a part in ensuring that burnout does not happen for their team. The Maslash burnout inventory (MBI) was used to survey 121 participants in

Morocco to identify emotional exhaustion from the call center work. Emotional exhaustion and dehumanization decreased with age. Dehumanization result indicates certain emotional dryness among our participants who will tend to dislike their clients less overtime creating an emotional exhaustion to continue to do the work with client's day after day (Drissi, et al. 2021). Call center burnout results from an imbalance between resources expectations and reality at work. It is important to point out this information when discussing call centers because it costs organizations a lot through absenteeism as well as eventual turnover.

Turnover in a call center is not specific to one industry or one company but that it is specific to culture in a single company (Tobias & Matthias 2017). In three call centers in Germany, burnout was related to factors such as tenure in the call center, gender, and overall resources within the call center (Larsson, 2018). Healthy and effective leadership focus on quality of work, effectiveness, working environment, subordinate health, and perceptions of the leadership. The goal is to identify whether there is a correlation between the effectiveness of managers and the overall turnover or productivity of their teams. Relation-oriented leadership behavior is the strongest in engaging employees to be more productive and retaining talent to their team (Larsson, 2018). There is a clear relationship impact of manager behavior on turnover within a call center setting.

The goal of any manager or leader within an organization should be to mitigate burnout before it happens through an understanding of what burnout theory is and how to prevent it (Drissi et al., 2021). Designing interventions to assist with stressors in the workplace would be the ideal way to intervene and stop the cycle of burnout in any

organization. Methods managers could use to identify burnout include the Maslach Burnout Inventory, Turnover Intent Scale, Pay Satisfaction Scale, and Iso-Strain Scale (Bradley et al., 2020). Maslach's Burnout Inventory is a psychological assessment instrument comprising 22 symptom items pertaining to occupational burnout. Jackofsky and Slocum's (1987) Turnover Intention scale is used to measure turnover variables, such as the thought of quitting and the intent to leave. The includes an employee's thought of quitting and intent to leave were antecedents of turnover. Pay Satisfaction Scale was developed to assess five dimensions of satisfaction with pay that includes level, benefits, raises, structure, and administration. Iso-Strain Scale to measure job demands, job control, and social support meaning the most hazardous work occurs when high job strain is combined with low levels of supportive social interaction. Call center agents who have high and low level of job demands combined with reduced social support showed higher turnover intention, and job control, salary, and burnout predicted turnover intentions. Managers that can identify burnout based on these key indicators have a better chance of retaining their employees and see less turnover.

Cause of Employee Turnover

Many researchers have identified what causes employee turnover with the main focus being on motivation. The key is to motivate employees by allowing them to feel needed, safe, and empowered without overwhelming them and leading to burnout. De Sousa et al. (2018) determined that motivation is the leading cause for turnover. The purpose of the current study is to explore the organizational culture of call centers to

understand the topic of retention in call centers and what managers can do to deter turnover.

Organizational Culture

Organizational culture is the guiding principles of any company. These include values, expectations, and practices that impact the actions of everyone in the organization. Companies with a healthy culture are 1.5 times more likely to see revenue growth, but only thirty one percent of human resource leaders believe their company has the right culture to see that growth (Moldoveanu, 2019). Therefore, the question is how leaders can use organizational culture to not only promote revenue growth but also to retain employees who want to see that growth.

Turnover happens across the world but understanding why it happens is beneficial to any company. One reason that turnover occurs is because of disengagement with the company (Thurmer et al., 2019). That reasons can be broad regarding what is causing employees to be disengaged and leave the company. Fifty-two percent of employees in the workforce are "not engaged" meaning they are psychologically unattached to their work and company (Harter, 2020). Employees who are not engaged will usually show up to work and contribute the minimum required and actively looking for better employment opportunities prepared to leave their company for a better offer (Harter, 2020). Therefore, looking at each individual employee and strategically leading them regularly can assist in retention.

Every organization and every person are unique, and that means that every organization's leadership team needs to design their strategy or vision according to their

company's culture, organizational structure, and size to avoid employee dissatisfaction. Call center managers' strategies to enhance retention noted that compensation contributes most to intention to leave (Karna & Knap-Stefaniuk, 2019). Innovative human resource practices as strategies are needed in every organization to retain employees. Strategies suggested were giving call center agents a safe and healthy work environment with career development and trust between employees and managers (Anwar et al., 2018). Call centers have high levels of employee turnover and have difficulty retaining staff (Dhanpat et al., 2018) and (Anwar et al., 2018). There is a fifty percent annual turnover in call centers (Mwendwa & Gitonga, 2017) and this is a problem because recruitment costs were fifty to sixty percent of an employee's first year's salary and one hundred percent for certain specialized positions. The reason for turnover in call centers are high for many reasons but base pay and bonuses greatly influence call center agent attrition when combined with other the other factors (Mwendwa & Gitonga, 2018).

Turnover rates and the intentions to leave is also heavily based on organizational culture. It is important for leaders to identify these relationships and promote a healthy culture within their organization. The work environment is a vital aspect that influences employee engagement and retention by being designated as a safe physical environment. The working environment tends to have positive or negative effects on certain job outcomes, like involvement, commitment, and the intention to stay with the organization (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). A healthy culture promotes an attractive and clean environment, encouraging individual employees to complete their work more effectively have a positive impact on the retention and commitment.

In addition to the promotion within, the company is creating a brand outside of the organization as well. Possible candidates will consider organizational culture before they apply as well. If the culture is not well, organizations may lose out not only on employees leaving but high performers that do not even want to apply (Mwendwa & Gitonga, 2018). Meaning that internal culture does not only impact the employees you already have, but also the potential candidates at any level looking for a new opportunity.

Low Satisfaction

Customer service is the face of any company, and call centers are the key to engaging those customers and how they feel about a company (Anwar et al., 2018). It is easy to see that call centers are a difficult job and can be stressful talking on the phone for 8 hours or more and quite frequently people are not calling with a positive message.

Usually, if a client is calling customer service something did not go as planned and it is their job to remedy the situation. Managers in call centers should attempt to create an environment where employees enjoy coming to work and servicing their clients (Ro & Lee, 2017). Managers can identify how well this is going by conducting satisfaction surveys regularly or providing an avenue for employees to provide feedback on how to promote satisfaction in the workplace. When both are low, expect the absence of stress and motivation (Ceblano et al., 2019). Job satisfaction is measured by if an employee looks forward to working every day, if an employee feels satisfied with their current job, if the employee almost every day, feels excited and interested in their work and if an employee feels their contribution to the work being done is valuable (Nguyen, 2020).

It is important when trying to proactively improve satisfaction, that managers know what is causing low satisfaction in an organization (Roe & Lee, 2017). Low satisfaction includes emotional exhaustion caused by lack of mindful relationships. This low satisfaction example was a cause for turnover intentions and job performance (Reb et al., 2017). Mindfulness is associated with lower turnover intentions by having less emotional exhaustion. Emotional exhaustion facilitates the relationship between mindfulness and turnover intentions.

Mindfulness is a psychological process of paying attention to the present and accepting one's current experiences without judgement. Employees and managers can take a mindful approach to a stressful situation by observing and accepting negative thoughts and emotional reactions open-mindedly and without judgement so that a thoughtful choice about how to respond can be made (Neville & Havercamp, 2019). Manager and their employees can develop and combat low satisfaction through mindfulness to promote mental health and well-being through practice. Mindfulness-based interventions for direct support professionals is an effective method to decrease stress and improve job satisfaction (Neville & Havercamp, 2019).

Job satisfaction, organizational support and job satisfaction significantly influences the call center agent's intent to quit. Role clarity was not related to intent to quit but a strong case for how role clarity specifically could engage agents in the call center enough to retail them (Frare & Beuren, 2021). Role clarity is the positive opposite of role ambiguity, the uncertainty regarding an employee's role requirements and their place in the organization. Therefore, the association between role clarity and well-being

at work has been facilitated by emotional empowerment. Role clarity is positively associated with engagement at work through higher autonomy and therefore assists with retention within the call center (Karkkola et al., 2019).

Worker turnover continues to be a challenge in the call center industry. Turnover tendencies are visible in occupations that combined an emotional exhaustion with high levels of role or job pressure (Marcatto et al., 2021). Employee turnover intention due to low satisfaction can be disruptive for effective operational performance of call centers due to the transfer of human capital. It is important to note for managers looking to improve satisfaction on their teams that social support alone was not enough to retain talent.

Lack of Motivation or Hygiene Factors

An organization lacking in employee necessities is likely to see increased organizational turnover. Research using Herzberg's two-factor theory has shown that poor hygiene factors and lack of motivating factors decrease employee job satisfaction. Motivators keep people going; when managers neglect recognizing team members' achievements, those managers begin to lose employees (Valk & Yousif, 2021). Poor hygiene factors can include stringent company policies, low salaries, or lack of employee safety.

Another factor related to hygiene or motivation theories and employee turnover is organization or global volatility. In a longitudinal study of Belgian firms (1999–2008), Raies et al. (2021) considered the role of turnover volatility through organizational routines theory, finding that hygiene and costs associated with turnover can lead to harm

to organizational performance. Other researchers have found that volatility moderates the relationship between employee turnover and labor productivity, and firms with medium volatility suffer the most damaging effects (De Winne et al., 2019). As a result, during times of global uncertainty, large numbers of employee resignations might be more likely to occur.

When employees are in a stable environment and their needs are met, they are more easily motivated to grow, achieve, and act responsibly (Jose et al., 2021).

Nonetheless, employers lack control of some aspects of hygiene factors because they are unable to control global circumstances (Prodanova & Kocarev, 2021). In reaction to volatility external to the organization, temporary policies may be implemented with unknown end dates, and economic volatility can affect an organization's pay rates. Thus, global volatility can lead to a lack of motivation and lack of hygiene factors among employees that can cause turnover.

Social Impact

Not only does turnover affect a company, but continuous turnover can impact communities themselves as well. When a company experiences high turnover, their ability to contribute to their community becomes compromised (De Clercq, 2021). High turnover leads to increased costs associated with employee recruitment and training, which means an organization will have fewer resources to commit to their community. A better understanding of organizational performance and human capital management can lead to economic growth and development. Companies with high performance and high employee satisfaction may experience a positive reputation in their communities as well.

Population turnover in an area can also effect employee turnover. Call centers and other organizations in specific regions and communities may see higher rates of unemployment and experience more difficulty recruiting based on local population demographics (Manaa & ul Haq, 2021). Call centers seek long-term employees but more frequently experience individuals seeking short-term employment and a higher wage demand (Thurmer et al., 2019). Similar to other organizations, call centers want to avoid the high costs associated with constant recruiting and training and paying higher than market average wages.

Another social impact is multiculturalism within a call center. When looking at how multiculturalism can impact turnover within an organization it is increasingly important to feel a sense of belonging. In more recent years, it is more common for individuals to belong to and be influenced by more than one culture (Vora et al., 2019). This is wonderful in terms of multiculturalism in the workplace and society. These types of individuals would make great team leaders due to being more well-rounded and versed in the everyday aspects of multiculturalism and therefore help promote engagement within their teams, be more conscious of inclusion and less likely to unknowingly create oppression (Grimes, 2021). A healthy organization does not sweep multiculturalism under the rug, but instead faces it head on with goals of engaging and empowering their workforce (Chianese & Di Maio, 2021).

The social impact aspect is lagging indicator of the work going on inside the organization (Qin & Men, 2021). Although it is important to know what impacts are taking place in our communities based on the turnover of our companies, it is equally

important to know how to continue to motivate our employees on a day-to-day basis to ensure turnover does not impact the communities around us.

Employee Effects

When looking to identify the impacts of turnover on employees, it is important to focus on the human themselves and their life. An employee who is unmotivated, exhausted, or burnt out will have many personal impacts if they choose to quit their job. Employees are potentially deciding to leave a paycheck and benefits that provide for their families or themselves and potentially be unemployed. Unemployment is linked to loss itself in the form of loss of function for pay, loss of social status, and loss of agency (Sage, 2018). Changing the negative impacts of social distress such as life satisfaction, unfair judgement and stigma in the workplace presented a high reform of the overall unemployment rate (Sage, 2018).

Social policies and stigmas in other countries are different from the stigma or norms in the United States in the same way that you may see differences between call centers and warehouse workers. Being able to capture and understand the different ways to reform stigma or norms in the workplace will be helpful in changing the personal experiences in organizations. Among all social aspects the biggest social division of the employee is the gender divide of labor and the social stigma behind the divide vs the actual work being done (Purcell, 2018). Unemployment itself is a product of this divide socially leading to employment or in turn the unemployment based solely on social aspects instead of the full body of knowledge, skill, and motivation (Boyd, 2021).

Social stigma is important when thinking about the employee effects because what others perceive to be issues is more impactful than actual social impacts such as gender division. If an employee does not have another employment opportunity, they must go on public assistance. Public assistance is when government promotes equality and responsibility to help their community be prosperous (Sykes et al., 2022). Welfare state is described as democracy, welfare and capitalism combined (Abst, 2021). The most important way to counter unemployment is to focus society on the important aspects of employment all around. In addition to the impacted employee themselves, there is also the employee impact in terms of those left within the organization to make up the work that the vacant role now must fill. Both the employee who left the company is impacted financially and many of their needs are no longer met due to the turnover and those left to pick up the work are also impacted where burnout can become more likely for those who remain.

Client Effects

Generally, when thinking about the impacts of turnover on an organization there is a focus on the organization and remaining employees themselves. However, there are very visible impacts to the client as well because the relationship between employee job satisfaction and customer satisfaction is exhibiting direct and significant results (Eneizan et al., 2021). It is evident that an employee's job satisfaction plays a vital role in the satisfaction of customers. This has been observed in various industries beyond call centers. The relationship between employee satisfaction and customer satisfaction has a place within the theory of emotional contagion (Hatfield et al., 2018). Customers are

often skilled in assessing the behavior of employees who develop the service quality that can be offered to them (Hatfield et al., 2018). Organizational employees and customers have direct contact, which includes passions and behaviors within the quality of service. When an employee is satisfied with their job, their satisfaction will cause substantial changes to their behavior. These changes will be noted by customers, and they will become satisfied (Barsade et al., 2018).

Clients almost equally impact the employee satisfaction, although less ability for managers to control how the client will interact with their team. However, through training and self-confidence they can impact the interaction quality. The interaction quality is the perception by customers regarding the way the service is provided (Eneizan, et al., 2021). Employees who are engaged and dedicated to providing great services to the customer are an integral part of organizations with high customer satisfaction. Similarly, interactions quality and customer satisfaction are directly related.

Manager strategies cannot always account for customers who may face poor external issues but can assist in the quality of the outcome. Managers who effectively coach and support their employees encouraging polite and knowledgeable interactions could create a better satisfaction of customer. Employees with longevity with the company and their manager have more strategic tools to better serve their customers again creating an understanding of the importance of retention. This leads to a positive connection between customer service quality and consumer loyalty. Therefore, the client effect of turnover is a direct impact on customer satisfaction and the higher the quality of

customer interaction through training, engagement, and retention, the higher the customer satisfaction.

Organizational Effects

Organizations that have high employee turnover rates have a direct impact on company revenue and profitability. The impact of high employee turnover includes decreased productivity, increased costs associated with recruiting new talent, preventable time and expenses on training new employees, and lost sales (Amanda, 2019).

Organizations with high turnover typically experience low employee confidence and poor productivity. Existing employees may have increased responsibilities due to a lack of a skilled peers. The organization will experience decreased sales due to the time spent training new hires on their future role and in company policy. These factors also contribute to low employee confidence from employees that are starting to feel burnout and new hires who struggle with new responsibility and processes. Companies with high staff turnover, especially is small markets, can struggle with attracting and retaining top talent.

The organizational effects of turnover are far more studied than the effects turnover has on a single employee. The organization is responsible for the financial impacts, the human capital, social or community impacts as well as the number one priority of their client's best interest. It costs 6 to 9 months of salary to replace an employee (Chiat & Panatik, 2019). The company will accrue the costs through recruiting and training. If the company had not needed to budget for higher recruiting and training

efforts, they could allocate a larger budget for investing into existing employees or their communities (Yücel, 2021).

Another organizational effect of turnover is the cause of additional turnover, by other employees. When one employee leaves a company and finds a better opportunity with another employer, they will share that with their network. Generally, the closest network an employee has is the network of people that were employed at the same company as the vacating employee did before and choose to apply for a job at the competitor. With each employee that leaves the company, there is loss of knowledge and experience (Banagou et al., 2021). The way a manager in a call center can counter that action among peers is through organizational commitment and support of their employees to create job satisfaction and retain employees (Albalawi et al., 2019).

When looking at the organizational effects of turnover, managers cannot look at a single employee on one team or in one department. Managers must look at the turnover in a larger scope knowing that there is a price to pay for recruiting, training and rewarding the new employee to also stay in addition to the existing employees that take on extra work to assist while recruiting, help training and also want to continue to be recognized for their achievements to stay motivated.

Call Centers

Call centers employ semiprofessional and empowered workers. Call center employees use information technology to provide personalized answers to clients' needs. In addition, call center workers are portrayed as key strategic resources because they serve as frontline support for customers and representatives in using market information

for their company (Sato, 2018). Call centers are thought of as divisions that merely do the simple work of taking in customer calls and such work can easily be outsourced. Studies emphasize the negative aspects of call centers including turnover and burnout because there are many issues faced by call centers. The position of call centers is particularly clear when viewed on an organizational level rather than a personal level focused on retention.

Call centers are the front lines for customers, they receive crucial information to assist with service reputation and problems. Healthy call organizations would use this information to not only improving products and services but also new product development (Sato, 2018). It is essential to have good communication between call centers and corporate. Companies can consider how to effectively use information gathered by call center employees when they are considering their organizational structure or process improvements. Call centers are the connection points through which companies can know customers' impressions about the organizations. If customers' thoughts of a company or their processes start to deteriorate, call center employees can sense that before any other business unit within the company. Call center employees who are empowered to voice the deterioration assists companies in thinking about how best to manage organizational reform and its urgency to respond. Therefore, call centers should be considered one of the most important parts of a company more than an insignificant asset that can be outsourced.

Call centers come in different sizes and are all over the world. In the United States, Texas has the largest number of call centers (Da Cruz, 2018). In the United States

there are roughly 2.83 million people employed in a call center (Da Cruz, 2018). The goal for all call centers across the world remains the same, provide over the phone service to their customers. Call centers need to create staffing plans and hiring forecasts to best prepare to support the call coming in. Call center staffing is one aspect of why retention is important, and they can also be a reason some companies lack motivation or hygiene.

Everything managers do daily including staffing planning plays a large role in the longevity of their team members. If expectations are set early with employees of what it is like to work in a call center, it is possible this will improve an already difficult job to perform (Sull et al., 2022). A call center could be a fun a welcoming environment when staffed and managed correctly.

History

Although telephone for marketing dates to the early 1900s, the first call center agents were housewives in the 1950s. In the 1970s call center technology expanded to include telephone sales, airline reservations as well as financial institution inquiries. In fact, starting in the 1970s companies began placing trades over the telephone. Throughout these advancements, turnover in the call centers have always been an area of focus for managers (Ogbeibu et al., 2021). Call centers started to grow in the 70's for large businesses. The goal of call centers in the early formation was to sell goods and services through outbound calling. Later to be used for inbound using roll-free numbers from an advertisement or as support. Inevitably this surge led to regulations (Sato, 2018). This included 1991 Telephone Consumer Protection Act. This Act limited the activities by call center agents and automation.

As technology evolved, call centers did not just focus on client contact through the phone system. Many call centers began to also use email to answer questions or solicit goods and services. Therefore, in an already complex field there was an added responsibility and opportunity for knowledge and training (Gupta et al., 2020).

Technology became so advanced that the world became smaller in a sense. Business that was once done only in the United States could now be done offshore and at times for a lower cost (Kasubaski, 2021). The positive impact for companies to spend less for the same work was also the ability to have people working shifts that are outside of the United States normal business hours. The advancement of outsourcing call center work did not last long as clients began to complain due to language barriers or sound quality and therefore a poor or negative opinion of the company using offshore representation to service clients (Nazli, 2022).

Today in call centers the job description might not look the same as it did historically. What used to entail picking up the phone and talking to clients now consists of using email or even chat functions on a company website for faster customer support (Campbell, 2021). In addition to new technology advancements and the expansion of the call center representatives' roles and responsibilities comes with new flexibilities. Some companies have taken the center out of call center and began saving costs associated with office space by allowing their agents to work from home (Hodder, 2020). It is only a matter of time before this model is also history.

Operational Aspects

Call center operations are at the top of priority for managers in this field.

Managers are focused on what they can do to improve processes and cut costs associated with processes in their control. One of the first impressions a company has on its employees to show how well they operate is how effective they train their employees.

Training helps to increase the employees' levels of commitment, causing them to stay with the organization, hence it decreases turnover and enhances retention (Bibi, eta al. 2018). Training and development are components of human resource management practices that influence employees' levels of job satisfaction, which in turn, may affect their decision about staying with the organization (Nguyen, 2020).

Training that includes formal learning procedures, learning specialists that focus on content creation, and dedicated facilitators, will help employees perform their jobs effectively because training allows individuals to gain a level of knowledge, skills, and competencies. Access to training, is an opportunity to participate in training, not only as a new hire to a company, but also as large change management events occur. Access to training in essence, improves productivity, services quality, and maximizing or enhancing resources. In the process of training and development, aside from producing results on skills, knowledge, and abilities, it also produces intangible results such as high self-esteem, enhanced confidence, and satisfaction of employees (Nguyen, 2020). Identifying the importance of training and development, businesses should invest heavily in employee training to promote long term engagement and retention.

Managers recognize an issue for quality control in call centers and research has been conducted to identify if call center quality could be improved specifically by conducting call reviews to better service clients (Chawla & Smutkupt, 2019). The goal was for the managers to be more hands on with their employees to strategically coach them in their role through a two-way coaching knowledge management model. Because each call presents possible different outcomes, the ongoing strategic coaching allows for ongoing knowledge enrichment to be productive in their role.

To show the importance of coaching, a group of call center managers conducted observations of 10 call center employees through calls with clients. The manager allowed observations to of monthly meetings with their employee to review the calls taken. Top findings were that 9 of the 10 employees struggled with at least one topic on the call. When they struggled, they started to mumble, and their tone dropped causing them to sound less confident to the client (Chawla & Smutkupt, 2019). Managers were noted as spending eighty percent of their time analyzing data related to their employee's performance.

This observation of day-to-day operation related to feedback or coaching presents the opportunity for improving the performance of call center employees through more quality observations on a weekly basis. By applying the quality of calls to the other key performance indicator metrics, employees were able to improve their overall scores through the knowledge management model.

Call center agents have a need to understand the performance paradox which their performance of courtesy, efficiency, and effectiveness research creates categories of

qualification when looking for high performing call center employees (Clark et al., 2019). The individual themselves need to understand their ability to be resourceful, emotionally intelligent, business acumen and overall thoroughness. To do this, the work design factors are needed. The work design factor includes support from team manager in the form of feedback, but also includes autonomy and use of provided scripts, electronic monitoring, or team collaboration tools. Lastly, organization design such as technology, processes and hierarchy also play a role in overall performance.

To validate impacts of performance paradox through coaching, a study of three agents with different performance levels taking 75 calls was coded as successful versus not successful call resolution. This was their first attempt at baseline performance with non-targeted feedback or coaching. In the second stage they took calls from 26 call center employees to calibrate the findings from the first stage. After the two studies were complete, the research revealed that by comprehending the issue directly and addressing it through coaching will resolve the performance paradox through awareness (Clark et al., 2019).

Call center phone queue monitoring is essential in call center operations (Robbins, 2019). Utilizing theoretical performance predictions of these models to simplify assumptions and seeks to establish simple staffing heuristics based on asymptotic frameworks applied to large call centers. Some of the most known models include Erlang C, which is the simplest model, and is used most often by call centers (Ding & Koole, 2022). However, Erlang A is more accurate in comparison. As with other models and tools, neither model is perfect and knowing that could identify opportunities for call

center employees to be queued and perform based on a one size fits most model that could potentially cause disengagement or turnover (Ding & Koole, 2022). Operating under the Erlang model allows workforce teams to be able to forecast based on calls offered, wait times and abandonments.

Each model has its weakness, but from an employee turnover standpoint, if forecast modeling like Erlang A was used, it may create extra work for the staff available and creating an overwhelmed group of employees who consider turnover due to burnout (Kumwilaisak et al., 2022). Erlang C will more often overstaff which allows employees more flexibility in their role. The research conducted by Robbins (2019) focused on long term average performance under steady conditions, further research could explore real life scenarios where there are shifting arrival rates. In addition, this model to determine if the forecasting in a given call center was accurate and how that result impacted the employee experience and intentions to leave if there were continued errors in the staffing forecast creating a poor work experience.

The goal of identifying overall call center operation is to have a more thorough understanding of the call center productivity and how staffing is determined. The goal is to empower call center agents in their role and improve their well-being which will in turn retain employees to remain with their employer (Clark et al., 2019). Although Managers should coach and provide feedback to assist with the performance paradox in the day-to-day performance of their employees, it is imperative to know how to coach through behaviors that the employees themselves do and do not have currently. Managers do not consider the quality portion of an employee when reporting performance to a

senior manager and therefore spend too much time on the quantitative data research vs coaching to qualitative performance of the day to day (Chawla & Smutkupt, 2019).

There continues to be ongoing research and practice within call centers to best determine both quantifiably and qualifiedly on how to improve the call center operations. As leaders of call center teams, it is important to speak up on ideas to promote either best practices or ideas on ways to validate operational theories. Companies that invest in the curiosity and creativity of their leaders to investigate strategies will lead to creative and innovated ways of motivating and rewarding employees through their achievements.

Leadership

Leadership is the process of influencing the activities of a team by setting goals and reaching the goals they have set. It is also a manager's conduct of leading the activities of a team toward a shared goal. Behavioral leadership theories focus on leaders' behavior rather than their traits. This theory indicates leaders are made through training, coaching and personal growth not born leaders. It suggests that people can become leaders through the process of education and observation (Uslu, 2019). Modern leadership theories suggest there are three styles of leadership: task-oriented leadership, relations-oriented leadership, and change-oriented leadership.

A task-oriented leader is extrinsically focused, which can be defined as a correcting leadership style. Task oriented leaders concentrate on details of a task and spend their efforts on actions such as setting goals, planning, closely supervising their employees, and procurement of the resources necessary for accomplishing the task.

Relations-oriented leadership is intrinsically directed, which is also called stimulation

leadership style. Relations-oriented leaders show concern for the well-being of their employees, acting in helpful and approachable ways. They involve employees in the decision-making process, keeping employees conversant, and providing employee with choices to feel more empowered in the work being done by the team. Development-oriented leaders encourage innovation, and encourage risk-taking, and creativity (Turner & Baker, 2018).

Leadership has a direct impact on human capital loss through their leadership style and strategies. Organizations incur human capital losses, harming their competitive advantage and decreasing their return from past investments through attrition (De Winne et al., 2019). There was value in the research conducted by Yu et al. (2019) looking at turnover because of a manager leaving instead of the manager not strategically keeping them. A survey was conducted of 510 employees in China who experienced manager changes. Based on the social cognitive theory, there is a relationship between work-related identity discrepancy and employee turnover intention. The higher the quality of communication between leaders and their employees, the more likely the subordinates will leave when the leader leaves (Prasetyo et al., 2021). Therefore, this study did not focus on the turnover happening directly because of an existing manager, but quite the opposite, where an employee may leave because a manager, they enjoyed working for has left first and therefore causing a drop in job satisfaction.

Job satisfaction was assessed through call center agents using Spector's Job Satisfaction Survey scale. Front-line employees who are more satisfied with their jobs are more likely to achieve higher performance levels and satisfy their customers' needs

(Cavazotte et al., 2022). However, there is an important role played by transformational leaders in this performance, suggesting that the influence of these leaders on team outcomes is controlled through their ability to leverage the satisfaction of call center teams.

Job satisfaction created by leadership can be impacted by technologies available to the managers. Seven technologies that are important in business are knowledge management, real-time monitoring, remote IT assist, online testing, online training, workforce management and agent performance management technologies to promote performance and harmony in the workplace (Kim & Suh, 2017). IT investments provided employees the ability to work remotely which produces less turnover ratio than employees in offices (Kim & Suh, 2017). When looking at the cost of turnover, ability to work remote thereby reduces training and recruitment costs and the investment into IT becomes more beneficial and fiscally responsible.

Although out of scope related to turnover, something to highlight is remote work abilities allow companies to reduce costs related to space and equipment in the office (Hodder, 2020). Remote or hybrid workforce can cause concerns with coaching abilities and could create productivity, engagement or turnover based on strategies used by the manager for remote team management compared to how they may supervise in person if the correct IT investments are not made. People-oriented leadership is one of the four leadership orientations consistent with the competing values framework of organizational culture (León & Morales, 2018). Supervisor's people-oriented leadership was associated with reduced turnover intention of their team and high productivity. Low productivity

causes call center agents to suffer from low wages and poor quality of work (Cavazotte et al., 2020). The low productivity of service sectors makes service jobs unattractive for employees and could result in low productivity of the whole economy.

Workforce motivation and engagement for any manager can be a challenge in companies where the skills required are low and there are very limited reward and recognition opportunities. Call-center employees are prone to lateness, absenteeism, and turnover because their jobs are low-wage, low-skill, and provoke high levels of stress that just do not attract many and the ones that are attracted are hard to retain (Doellgast & O'Brady, 2020). It takes very skilled and strategic leadership to attract and especially retain talent in this field.

Transition

Section 1 of this study included information regarding strategies that leaders could use to reduce employee turnover in call centers. Section 1 detailed the foundation of the study, background of the problem, problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, research question including interview questions, operational definitions, study assumptions, limitations and delimitations, and significance of the study. Section 2 includes the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, the selected participants, a detailed description of the research methodology and design, population and sampling, ethical research, and reliability and validity of the study. Section 3 includes the findings of the research study, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and future areas of opportunity for additional research, reflections, and the conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 provides an in-depth analysis and justification of the research methodology. I discuss the purpose of using a qualitative single case study, followed by a discussion of my role as a researcher and information about the selected participants. The remaining subsections are the research method and design, the population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization technique, data analysis, reliability, and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population was five managers in a financial service call center in Nebraska who used successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. The results of this study contribute to social change by creating increased financial stability for call center employees, improving local economic conditions, and reducing the unemployment rates in their communities.

Role of the Researcher

Researchers are obligated to possess an expert level understanding of the topic considered (Mergel et al., 2019). The role of the researcher in qualitative studies is to gather information accurately and report all data collected (Johnson et al., 2020). I was the primary data collection instrument for this study. I have 15 years of experience in the financial services call center industry, having served as a leadership programs specialist from 2014-2016, and as the manager of retail support from 2016-2021. As part of the researcher's obligations, a researcher should select participants who do not possess a

current or prior personal or professional relationship with the researcher (Head, 2020). I had no prior or current personal or professional relationship with the targeted population.

The Belmont Report is a result of the National Research Act of 1974, made to address ethical issues arising from research of human subjects. The Belmont Report was and is used to help identify basic ethical principles of biomedical and behavioral research (NCPHSBBR, 1979). There are three core principles as part of the Belmont Report that states researchers must have respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (Miracle, 2016). Researchers are required to adhere to these core principles (Nicolaides, 2016). To demonstrate respect for persons, I obtained voluntary, informed consent of potential human subjects. To demonstrate beneficence, I maximized potential benefits for my subjects and minimized potential risks of harm for them. My intention was that the benefits of knowledge gained from the managers I interviewed outweighed the risks. Justice in the Belmont Report perspective means I selected participants fairly, and that the risks and benefits were equal among subjects. I did not identify or select participants purely because they were easy to access, but instead chose the most appropriate for the research.

Researchers for qualitative studies should reduce or eliminate any bias that may affect data collection and data analysis (Arpey et al., 2017). I minimized inaccuracies and bias by collecting reliable data about the subject and followed up with member checking. To mitigate bias in this study, I selected participants who did not have an existing relationship with me and removed my personal views or experiences in drawing conclusions. In addition, to reduce bias, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to

ensure impartiality in the interview process. Researchers build rapport and take steps to make participants feel relaxed and comfortable enough to share their experiences, given that good rapport may be associated with higher quality data (Archibald et al., 2019). The interview protocol helped me achieve cohesion and trustworthiness of the study through consistent behaviors through each interview. A reliable interview protocol is the key to obtain good quality interview data (Yeong et al., 2018).

Participants

Participants are used in research to provide their expertise in a specific field that is valuable to the researcher. Selecting the appropriate participants for a research study is integral to acquiring data to answer the research question (Larsson et al., 2019). The targeted population was five managers in a financial service call center in Nebraska who used successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. The eligibility criteria for participants were that they: (a) must be a manager in a financial service call center, (b) must have applied strategies to reduce employee turnover, and (c) must have at least 1 year of team leadership experience.

To gain access to participants, I worked with the Director of Human Resources for the call center. I requested a list of potential candidates who are in management, and who themselves have a low turnover rate on their teams, considering this to be an indicator of strategies in action. An alternate source of participants, if I would not have been able to gain access to call center employees through HR, was the company address book. After I reviewed the list of potential candidates and their qualifications, I requested the director's approval to contact the best participants. The initial contact to the

participants was through an e-mail asking if they were interested in participating in my study.

I then called the identified participants and introduced myself, as well as providing the goal of the study to establish a working relationship. Working relationships are enhanced through personal contact by providing background for research and asking questions to establish rapport (Young et al., 2020). Physical distance between the researcher and the participant during video conference style interviews can facilitate a connection through participants' increased sense of ease with the setting and mode (Weller, 2017). Once the participants agreed to the interviews, I sent them the informed consent form and interview protocol for review. I utilized the same email method to provide the participants with their scheduled video conference and login details.

Research Method and Design

Selection of an appropriate research method is important in answering the research questions (Hong et al., 2018). Researchers are recommended to use the qualitative method to explore observable events (Sharbek, 2020). The qualitative method is relevant to the study and a single case study design.

Research Method

Three primary research methods exist: quantitative, mixed method, and qualitative (Ramlo, 2020). Quantitative research involves an objective approach and includes closed-ended questions, or testing hypotheses and examining correlations between variables (Goertzen, 2017). Mixed method research consists of both qualitative and quantitative research. Mixed methods researchers emphasize the techniques or

methods of collecting and analyzing data (Goertzen, 2017). In contrast, qualitative researchers explore real-world problems through open discussion with participants and reviewing supporting documentation to gain rich, insightful data (House, 2018).

Quantitative researchers collect numeric data to statistically test hypotheses for characterizing variables, as well as examining relationships among predictor and criterion variables (Goertzen, 2017). Positivism, which is representative of quantitative research, cannot account for how social reality shapes and maintains, or how people interpret their actions and actions of others (Rahna, 2017). As my business problem is behavior based, quantitative research would not account for social reality. Prepared formulas for quantitative research, including best practice and common notion of validity or objectivity, are often disconnected from the ethical and practical implications of doing, evaluating, and using quantitative research for specific purposes (Zyphyr & Pierides 2017). I rejected the quantitative method because analyzing variables' characteristics or testing the significance of relationship among variables would not lead to answers to the research question.

The mixed method is a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods (Goertzen, 2017). Researchers use the mixed method to support or supplement qualitative data with quantitative data (Gibson, 2017). I rejected the mixed method because I would not administer a survey, nor use statistics, but instead use qualitative inquiry for a more in-depth evaluation of strategies used by managers. Qualitative research is informative and captures life experiences, which allows for exploration in a natural setting. Qualitative methodology's assumptions, views, and values affect theory, design, analysis,

and reporting choices, as well as the interpretation of results (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019). Qualitative methodologies also include the roles of the investigator and informant, and the relationship to express experiences in words allowing the participant to assist in research strategies (McGrath et al., 2019). I used the qualitative method to explore a real-world problem by engaging participants in open dialogue and reviewing relevant documents.

Research Design

I considered using the qualitative research designs of a case study, ethnography, and phenomenology. Researchers conducting a case study use descriptive research to best join the theory to the reality through observations and actual events to address a real-world problem within a bounded setting (Lambert & Lambert, 2012). I used the case study design to explore a real-world problem within the boundaries of call centers. Researchers use case studies to demonstrate or explain real-life environments and experiences (Zhu et al., 2018), as well as to develop a holistic view of a problem (Mohajan, 2018). The case study approach allows the researcher to study individuals themselves for originality and their narratives (Carroll, 2016).

Ethnographic researchers focus on customs and cultures (Pink, 2016).

Researchers use ethnography to explore the beliefs and feelings within a culture (Fusch et al., 2017). Ethnography as a research design is specific to a demographic or type of people (Reyes, 2020). The ethnographic design was not suitable for my proposed study because I focused on customs or cultures within call centers.

Phenomenological researchers focus on the meaning of the lived experiences of participants (Alase, 2017). Phenomenological research is conducted to expose experiences lived by the participant (Adams & van Maden, 2017). Phenomenological research is not fitting for my study, as I am not proposing to expose the meaning of the participants' lived experiences.

Data saturation is the gold standard for qualitative research (Hancock et al., 2016). Data saturation occurs when the researcher no longer has new evidence and begins to see replicated responses (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). Although data saturation is complex due to limitations of the researcher's knowledge, it is important to ensure data saturation has been achieved for the most robust research possible (Tran et al., 2017). Therefore, to reach data saturation, I followed my interview protocol in questioning and conducting member checking through confirming my interview interpretations match what the participant meant in the interview, as well as methodological triangulation through use of interviews and company documents. By asking the identical interview questions of respondents, I promoted data saturation because their data would align, strengthening the direction and consistency of responses.

Population and Sampling

To provide information-rich cases so that leaders and companies can learn a great deal about the important issues at hand, I used purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling entails gathering data from the various situations and diverse responses relevant to understanding the phenomenon (Ames et al., 2019). Purposeful sampling is a means for researchers to gain insights and an in-depth understanding rather than empirical

generalizations (Benoot et al., 2016). Purposeful sampling allows researchers to articulate details of the experiences discussed in the interview process (Luciani et al., 2019). Due to the limited scale of the purposive sample, it is possible to add excessive influence on the data obtained simply because the sampling is so small (Kim et al., 2016).

The population consisted of managers in a single call center. I selected participants who met the following qualifications: (a) must be a manager in a financial service call center, (b) must have applied strategies to reduce employee turnover, and (c) must have at least 1 year of team leadership experience.

A small population sample is acceptable in a case study, but the more detailed the description of the population and sub-populations, the better the results (van Rijnsoever, 2017). With much discussion in academia on population sizes, qualitative case study researchers use smaller groups of participants to interview (Vasileiou et al., 2018). By using smaller groups, researchers are better able to manage the complexity of the analytic undertaking as part of their research.

In addition to selection, the interview setting was virtual. I conducted the interviews through a personal virtual conference account, with the privacy tools enabled to ensure confidentiality. Virtual conferencing was an appropriate option due to Covid-19 concerns and safety protocols, limiting in-person meetings or comfort levels.

Furthermore, I was able to have quick and effortless access to participants.

Data saturation is achieved when all new information becomes repetitive (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). Once I no longer had new evidence and began to see replicated responses, I knew I had reached data saturation and began to validate the

interview data. Researchers can reach data saturation by using the proper sample size and by constructing a saturation grid that lists the major topics or research questions against interviews or other sources (Chakraborty & Goto, 2020). To reach data saturation, I followed my interview protocol in questioning and conducting member checking.

Ethical Research

To conduct ethical research, I obtained informed consent from each participant (see Appendix B). Consent from each participant is important to protect participants' confidentiality; this allowance for individual freedom results in more collective values such as reciprocity, responsibility, and solidarity (Sutrop & Lõuk, 2020). Informed consent is an ethical and regulatory requirement in research (Biros, 2018). In addition to consent, it is essential that research participants have the ability to withdraw from the research if they feel the desire to do so (Larsson et al., 2019). Participants were able to withdraw before, during, or after the interviews. The participant could communicate to me their withdrawal in person, via email, phone call, or a handwritten letter.

Participants are human and readily respond to incentives (Edwards & Roy, 2017). I did not offer any incentives to participants; however, I did provide them with an executive summary after completing the study. As an indirect incentive for professional development, I informed participants that their participation allowed for growth in business through experience distribution and research.

Using the Belmont Report, researchers can further understand and address ethical issues arising from research where humans are involved. The Belmont Report results from the National Research Act of 1974 made to address these ethical issues. Miracle

(2016) outlined three core principles as part of the Belmont Report and from that, my role as the researcher uses human subjects. Researchers must adhere to the core principles outlined in the Belmont Report (Nicolaides, 2016). Specifically, with respect for persons, I obtained voluntary, informed consent from each participant. Additionally, I advised the participants that the data retained was kept in a safe for 5 years to protect their confidentiality using the informed consent form (see Appendix B). I stored printed transcripts and notes in a locked fireproof safe. I also stored digital documents on a password-protected flash drive that will also be locked in the fireproof safe. As the researcher, I was the only person with access. The Walden IRB approval number is 10-07-22-0998229.

To assist protecting my participants and the organization they represent, I have coded participant and organization names. Providing protection allows participants to be open and feel protected in their responses (Kamanzi & Romania, 2019). Participant names were designated as P1 through P5. I did not identify the organization's name in the final study; "the Company" served as the code name for the organization.

Data Collection Instruments

My study aims to explore strategies used by call center managers to engage their employees to mitigate turnover. I was the primary data collection instrument for this proposed study. The researcher uses semistructured interviews to create an open and authentic dialogue with participants (Brown & Danaher, 2019). Interviews allow in-depth exploration of a phenomenon and allow for indirect questions as I engaged in conversation. Interviews provide insights into triggers or areas of particular interest from

the respondent's experience to create an open dialogue with participants to achieve honest and open responses. Semistructured interviews are a means for the researcher to allow the participant to hear the ethical treatment and create confidentiality that they may not feel with other data collection methods (Tingaz, 2020). The primary data collection instrument was a virtual meeting room interview. I also collected the analysis of the organization's policies, procedures, and personnel handbook to explore strategies that business leaders use to reduce turnover and contrast the data with the interview content. The additional collection of documentation allows the researcher to create a good connection with the source (Adhabi & Anozie, 2017). I enhanced the reliability and validity by using member-checking through follow-up after data analysis from the initial a semistructured interview.

Semistructured interviews consisted of an audio recording of my open-ended questions. Researchers use data collection instruments to ensure the reliability and credibility of the responses or data collected. I used the interview protocol. The interview protocol (see Appendix A) includes (a) interview preparation, (b), informed consent (c) executing the interview, and (d) procedures for post-interview contact in member checking. I sent the participants my interpretation of their responses so that if I misinterpreted a participant's response, I was able to clarify the response and revise as needed.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection technique for this study was video interviews and explore company documents. Data collection is essential in every study and interviews

specifically give participants the freedom to describe a phenomenon (Yeong et al., 2018). Before meeting the participants, I coordinated the time, date, and participants' designated video conference login. With the calendar meeting invites, I provided the participant a copy of the consent form (Appendix B) and received their consent before our interview. Before the meetings began, I checked system application functionality such as the recording feature and sound quality to ensure a successful interview. I conducted the session using the interview protocol (Appendix A) to ensure uniformity. Components of my interview protocol included greeting, a questioning period, and then follow-up for the ensuing next steps. Before interviewing, I obtained permission to record the sessions. The participants engaged in the video conference session from the comfort of their own home or office while I attended from my home in a quiet room. In this exchange, I also allowed time for the participant to ask questions. After recording, I transcribed each interview.

Conducting interviews via video conference allowed me to physically observe the participant as they answer questions. An advantage of a video conference interview is video conference responses are direct (Langer et al., 2017). This method allows the ability to be flexible, engage in thoughtful reaction and action. Video conferencing also allows participants the ability to see the researcher and respond to physical cues, which is a critical aspect of establishing rapport and building interpersonal connection (Archibald, 2019). There are also disadvantages to video interviews. One disadvantage is the inability to note whole body language from the participants because researchers cannot observe their entire body. Another disadvantage to video conferencing is distractions such as pausing to attend to a matter outside the interview. After identifying the advantages and

disadvantages, a video conference is the most appropriate means to conduct the interviews for this study because of the simplicity of attendance and accessibility for the participants.

The other form of data collection was conducting a document review. I requested a digital copy of the employee handbook via email from an identified Human Resource Director. The employee handbook supported triangulating responses related to corporate constraints and obligations for client engagement and employee behavioral coaching. The advantage of collecting multiple forms of data, as in methodological triangulation, is to promote the collection of rich and in-depth data (Dzwigol, 2020). Data sources that enable methodological triangulation may include comparing organizational documents and transcribed interview data (Natow, 2020). An advantage of document review is to enrich research as it offers a dataset to explain various aspects of a phenomenon.

Disadvantages of document review include outdated or irrelevant information, lack of origin, bias, lack of scope, and irrelevance to interview questions (Cardno, 2019). The advantages of document review outweigh the disadvantages by establishing or supporting creditability and validity.

I conducted member checking to confirm understanding of participant responses.

I sent the participants my interpretation of their interview responses and any sections of their employee handbook that I documented as supporting documentation. Member checking is an integral part of creating trustworthiness in qualitative research (Candela, 2019). Member checking is done to confirm the data's credibility and verify the accuracy of my interpretations. Allowing participants to review my understandings ensured I did

not misinterpret a participant's response or policy and allowed me the potential to revise my interpretation.

Data Organization Technique

After the data is collected, researchers must organize the data for analysis and storage. One way to organize participant data and their responses is by data cleaning to exclude data that is not relevant to the study (Krishnan et al., 2016). Irrelevant data would include responses by the participant that is unrelated to the research question. Using a catalog system is beneficial to organize the research and identify relevant data through patterns of how often words or topics are spoken (Groom et al., 2019). The catalog system was held within Voice Recorder and provides for entry of the transcribed responses, allowing to search and highlight duplicate words. I organized the data to include participant codes and stored in a secure drive. Secure memory drives protect the identity of participants and companies (Williams & Moser, 2019).

Generic codes allow a researcher to protect the participants' identity and organize the data. Qualitative researchers assign a generic code to each participant (Kamanzi & Romania, 2019). For this study, participant names have been stored in a file and all documentation and recordings are labelled with P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5. The file included a checklist for each participant that included acceptance, informed consent, interview appointment, interview completion, transcriptions, and member checking. Neither participant identities nor the name of the organization is included in the final study. I use "the Company" as the code name for the organization.

I transcribed the interview using Voice Recorder software after each interview and stored the electronic data on a password-protected flash drive. Storing the data in an electronic form protected by a password is essential for privacy in research (Irawan, 2018). I used Excel to store interview data and relevant information from the company documents. After 5 years, I will delete the electronic data from the password-protected flash drive and shred the written paper data to comply with the IRB requirements and protect the participants' privacy and confidentiality.

Data Analysis

The purpose of data analysis is to evaluate information collected in interviews to answer the general research inquiry. Qualitative researchers use data analysis because it provides perspective and knowledge of the phenomenon (Frenzel & Smaltz, 2017). I analyzed the data to explore strategies of call center managers used to improve employee retention. Data came from semistructured interviews and additional documents provided by the identified Human Resources Director for the call center and participants who wish to offer specific documents to support their responses. I organized the data to analyze the responses using Yin's (2018) five-step data analysis method: (a) compiling the data in Excel, (b) disassembling the data by finding common themes, (c) reassembling the data by grouping common themes, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data.

I organized the data to analyze the responses using Yin's (2018) five-step data analysis method: (a) compiling the data, (b) disassembling the data, (c) reassembling the data, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data. The first step

of data analysis was compiling or collecting the data, completed through conducting semistructured interviews and document review. During the interview process, I recorded each session and saved the recording to a password-protected flash drive. For backup, I used a cellphone with a digital recorder app. I used Voice Recorder software to transcribe the voice recording from interview sessions. To meet Yin's (2018) 5-step process, I used Excel to detect and organize common ideas or responses and then identify patterns. Next, I translated those patterns into common themes by creating a word bubble that identified common words. Identifying common words will begin to show which topics managers focus on to engage and retain their call center employees and answer the research question of which strategies are used to retain call center employees.

To compile, disassemble, and reassemble data, researchers rely on qualitative analysis software. I used Excel and word bubble because it is most familiar to me and will allow me to interpret the data more efficiently and was visually appealing. While interpreting the data, I identified participants' practices, ideas, and themes about retention strategies that correlate to the constructs of transformational leadership and Herzberg et al.'s (1959) two-factory theory. The goal was to identify patterns within the transcripts through frequency and similarity to understand the phenomenon and conclude the data analysis.

Methodical triangulation is how researchers attempt to validate data through observations, theories, and empirical materials to overcome biases from a single data acquisition method. The use of methodological triangulation aids in data saturation. Data saturation increases credibility of study results (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). I used the

employee handbooks to support methodological triangulation for rich and in-depth data. I also asked identical semistructured interview questions to each participant to support data saturation and credibility.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability addresses the dependability of the study. In qualitative research, the reliability of the study can reach dependability though trustworthiness (Kyngäs, Kääriäinen & Elo, 2019). I followed four common steps in qualitative research to achieve reliability through dependability. I promoted reliability in my study through data saturation. Reaching data saturation occurs when the researcher no longer has new evidence and begins to see replicated responses (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). To reach data saturation, researchers use the same interview questions in each interview with participants (Belotto, 2018). I also created reliability through consistency by structuring the interviews for all participants in the same manner with video conferencing and applying the interview protocol (Appendix A).

Dependability is the accuracy of the findings (Abdalla et al., 2018). I promoted data accuracy by sharing my findings with the participants through member checking (Candela, 2019). To demonstrate dependability in my study, I recorded each interview to capture all discussion as well as took notes and document observations. Once I transcribed the interviews, I provided a synopsis of the interview transcript to the participants to review and to ensure that I accurately captured their responses.

Validity

The study's validity is the suitability of data collection methods, the data collected, and the analysis utilized by the researcher (Hayashi et al., 2019). A thorough validation process will rely on the meanings of theoretical constructs being constant during a study (Anderson et al., 2018). Consistency includes being recognized by scholars in the research community.

Credibility was created through aligning theory, evidence, and research questions (Thomas, 2017). Researchers can demonstrate credibility through rich data achieved from lengthy and persistent examination, triangulation, peer examination, and member checks (Shufutinsky, 2020). I included rich data by recording my interviews, taking notes to precisely reflect participant experiences, and using purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling seeks to answer the research objectives based on the participants ability to provide the required information and therefore enhances credibility (Marasan, 2021). Consistency will address transferability to the reader and future research by allowing other researchers to trust the accuracy of the data through demonstrated legitimacy and the confirmability of the study is established when the researcher reports the findings of the study based on the participants' experiences and not the researcher's viewpoints (Sinclair et al., 2018).

Confirmability means continuing impartiality in data collection and analysis so others can corroborate results. To accomplish confirmability, I used methodical triangulation and member checking. Using methodological triangulation can increase validity using multiple data collection methods (Hayashi et al., 2019). One way to

achieve rigor through confirmability is to take notes on personal opinions, biases, and insights immediately after an interview (Hayashi et al., 2019). I recorded my observations and any potential predisposition of my understandings in my interview notes. In addition to confirmability, using clear, rich, and detailed descriptions to provide transferability is important for future researchers.

Researchers have a responsibility to offer extensive descriptions of their participants and robust data on the research process to help the reader understand the transferable nature of the study results (Marasan, 2021). To adhere to transferability, I documented all study processes and procedures to increase the potential of replication through consistent descriptions. Additionally, I included the interview protocol used for this study to provide an example that other researchers can use.

Data saturation is essential to establish validity in qualitative studies (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). A researcher must continue to collect data until no new themes or information occurs. I established data saturation through methodological triangulation. I relied on two forms of data: interviews and archival documents. To achieve data saturation, I compared interview data with my initial interpretation and other interview data through member checking to identify strategies used. Triangulation is essential to create a union of data from various sources (Dzwigol, 2020). In my study, I utilized methodical triangulation through conducting interviews as well as reviewing and analyzing the employee handbook.

Transition and Summary

In this qualitative single case study, I explored the strategies managers used to reduce employee turnover in the call center. In Section 2, I described the methodology of my study to ensure research rigor. I explained the sampling strategy, discussed measures to ensure ethical research and explained data collection, organization, and analysis processes. I listed the strategies to enhance the reliability and validity of the study process and results. Section 3 will introduce the study, provide the purpose statement, and research questions, show data collection information, describe the study findings, provide conclusions and recommendations for business practice and future research as well as research reflection.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study is to explore the strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. I conducted video conferencing interviews to acquire data from five call center managers with a total of 53 years of experience implementing strategies to reduce turnover on their teams. I reviewed the employee handbook to confirm rewards, recognition, and time off data. The participants responded to eight open-ended questions about their leadership strategies used to reduce employee turnover. Additionally, I used methodical triangulation to compare information from the data sources, ultimately discovering that the literature and conceptual framework two-factory theory of motivation developed by Herzberg et al. (1959) aligned with the participants' strategies. I identified four common themes that managers of call centers could use to decrease voluntary turnover, at points where the themes aligned with Herzberg's hygiene factors and motivational factors (Herzberg, 1968).

Section 3 includes a presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, and the implications for social change. Additionally, Section 3 includes recommendations for further action, a recommendation for further research, and reflection. Section 3 also ends with the conclusion of the study.

Presentation of the Findings

I reviewed the employee handbook and conducted video conferencing interviews to understand the participants' strategies to decrease voluntary turnover. Reviewing the

employee handbook allowed me to understand the guidelines and established policies managers must reinforce in their role as team managers. The overarching research question for this single case study was as follows: what strategies do managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover? I adhered to the interview protocol (see Appendix A) as a guide to answering the overarching research question. Participants in the study were five managers from a single call center in Omaha, Nebraska. Each participant met the following criteria: (a) must be a manager in a financial service call center, (b) must have applied strategies to reduce employee turnover, and (c) must have at least 1 year of team leadership experience.

The five call center managers responded to eight open-ended interview questions. I assigned each participant a generic P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 code to keep the participants' identity confidential. After receiving permission from each participant, I recorded the interviews. Each manager shared their experiences and strategies to retain employees on team. I utilized the employee handbook as an additional data source to help meet methodical triangulation. I transcribed each interview immediately and completed member checking by emailing each participant direct quotes, asking if I had captured their responses and interpreted their statements correctly. After this, I thanked each participant for their participation.

Once the data were confirmed with each participant through member checking, I uploaded the responses in Excel to organize the data and analyze the responses using Yin's (2018) five-step data analysis method: (a) compiling the data, (b) disassembling the data by finding common themes, (c) reassembling the data by common grouping themes,

(d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data. In doing so, the following themes emerged that aligned with Herzberg's (1968) hygiene factors and motivational factors (Herzberg, 1968). Words frequently used in interviews and identified in transcripts included communication, feedback, culture, motivation, expectations, feel, and coach. To capture these frequently used words, I transferred all the transcriptions to a word bubble to emphasize the words that were used most (See Figure 1). Table 1 shows the percentage of themes covered throughout the interview questions (See Table 1). The table's purpose was to identify from the interviews how frequently a specific theme came up in the interview question. The interview questions were slightly different in terms of topic; some were strategies while others were obstacles, but I wanted to see if the main theme was still relevant in the responses and, if so, where.

Figure 1
Words Most Frequently Identified in Interview Transcripts



Note: Developed with Free Word Cloud Generator

Table 1Percentage of Coverage Of Themes Found Throughout Interview Questions

Theme	P1	P2	Р3	P4	P5
Communication	62%	87%	75%	87%	87%
Motivation	75%	12%	12%	37%	25%
Culture	25%	12%	25%	12%	37%
Personal Relationships	87%	62%	62%	87%	87%

Theme 1: Communication

Communication was the most common strategy mentioned by the participants during the interviews. The theme of communication and transparency through communication came up with every participant and in multiple responses to interview questions. Communication was noted as the most critical strategy used to retain talent for the team and the firm by other company leaders. Prior research has shown that communication can help motivate and retain employees (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). Employees who had regular communication with their managers could comprehend any performance issues directly and address them through coaching to resolve the performance paradox through awareness (Clark et al., 2019). The coaching sessions, when held with a regular cadence, allowed the managers to continue reinforcing expectations, which were stressed as a strategy by all five participants in this study.

P3 and P5 indicated that regular one-on-one sessions allowed them to meet with their team members to see how they felt about their performance in a safe and open environment. P3 stated, "I use a coaching template that utilizes standing questions for

each one-on-one to help the team feel more comfortable with what to expect." P5 said that in one-on-ones, "[they] make a conscious effort to ask about what success looks like, where they want to go, and how they plan to get there, or how can I help them get there?" All five participants also noted that in their one-on-one sessions, they would be vulnerable in asking for feedback on their performance as a manager, communicator, and support system. By doing so, the manager exhibits mindfulness, a psychological process of paying attention to the present and accepting one's current experiences without judgment. Employees and managers can take a mindful approach to build a working relationship and allow for open feedback by observing and accepting potential negative results open-mindedly and without judgment, so that a thoughtful choice about how to respond (Neville & Havercamp, 2019) and grow can happen.

Communication strategies were not only noted between the managers and their teams but also the managers and their senior leaders as advocates for their teams, and what their teams are hearing from the clients they serve. Prior research stated that it is essential to have good communication between call centers and corporate or senior leaders (Sato, 2018). Companies can consider effectively using information gathered by call center employees when considering their organizational structure or process improvements. Call centers are the connection points through which companies can know customers' impressions of the organizations. P1 and P2 stated that their firm could gauge employee concerns through a yearly employee engagement survey. P1 stated that "the survey is taken by all employees in the firm and then analyzed at many levels. Great managers will then drill down to their teams and use that survey to strategize specific to

their current team's needs." The participants stated that their firm has historically spent dedicated meetings and communications with their front-line employees to ensure they hear what their employees say. This was pointed out in past research that companies need to keep them engaged by allowing them to voice their concerns and act on them, and, in turn, keep employees at the firm and keep them productive (Drissi et al., 2021). It was pointed out in existing studies that survey tools similar to what the participants described address the multifaceted aspects of engagement, not only of the individual's engagement, but also their intentions to stay with the firm (Burnett & Lisk, 2019).

Theme 2: Motivation

Motivation was a common theme but was less commonly identified by the managers in the interview than communication. Communication and motivation met similar needs, but the communication itself summoned the motivation instead of it being naturally realized by the team. The managers had to communicate with their employees to meet their motivational needs. Motivational factors that are part of the two-factory theory include achievement, career advancement, recognition, level of responsibility, the job itself, and growth (Herzberg, 1968).

P3 highlighted the strategy they used to create a pathway for their team. It began with working with them to create goals and check back in on those goals with hopes of them achieving them and eventually gaining a promotion if they worked hard and grew within their role. Previous research shows that job satisfaction positively affects employee performance and retention (Shaikh et al., 2019). Therefore, their strategy was to outline a path for self-efficacy directed intrinsic motivation factors for engagement.

This infers that the key to improving employee engagement is maintaining motivation factors (Miao et al., 2020) which he did by creating a career path and reinforcing with goal setting in regular touchpoints.

P2, P3, and P4 also highlighted a similar strategy by stating that they would ensure their teams have an awareness of being more than "just a phone representative" by understanding their motivators, and then working towards them. It was important for P2 to "directly ask what motivated each team member most and then coach those motivators." Some professionals on the participants' teams were content being on the phones but had goals of making more money, generating more bonuses, or moving a specialized or high net-worth style team, which all participants discussed. Attrition is okay when the professional leaves their team to go to another specialized team within the organization. If promotions to specialized teams were their motivation, they would help the professional set goals to get to that next level.

Another motivational strategy used by P2 was ensuring that he takes time to surprise the team with gift cards and recognition in team huddles or department meetings. A manager's ability to recognize and utilize these motivation factors as a tool can lead to the retention of their current employees. Managers should be proactive in recognition strategies, as this has been recognized and valued by employees in corporate organizations (Marinakou & Giousmpasoglou, 2019). Prior research describes motivation as a factor affecting job satisfaction and a means for managers looking to retain employees. Therefore, job satisfaction positively affects employee performance and retention (Shaikh et al., 2019).

Theme 3: Culture

People-oriented leadership is one of the four leadership orientations consistent with the competing values framework of organizational culture. Managers with people-oriented leadership were associated with the reduced turnover intention of their team and high productivity (León & Morales, 2018). There was a common theme that all participants acknowledged, and that was the culture of the company itself. All participants pointed out that they are encouraged by their senior leaders to calibrate with each other, share best practices, and in turn, create a culture that allows the managers themselves to be encouraged to promote the themes and strategies they outlined during the interview. P3 stated, "my peers and I get together every quarter with our director to ensure we are sharing best practices and moving in the same direction." Calibration of leadership strengthens engagement and offsets low ethical leadership by individualized management styles where peer accountability is not in place (Joplin et al., 2021). Hygiene factors impacted by this theme include company policy and administration or supervision.

Another common theme identified by P1, P2, P4, and P5 was that their company's culture was to assist the professional with getting to where they want to be, not where the manager wants them to be or stay. P1's strategy was to create a culture within their departments to retain them through internal promotions or job titles and more responsibility. "As a leadership team, we created promotions within our department to create a sense of purpose and a road map to get there." P5, on the other hand, had a less specialized team where the internal department promotion was not an option and,

therefore, worked to have ongoing conversations through corporate encouraged a culture of bi-weekly coaching. In these coaching sessions, they would discuss their current performance and goals, revisit measurable goals, and then eventually celebrate that success together for those that desired promotion to a specialty team. "The culture advocated within the firm is that you may not stay on the same entry-level team, but instead, if you desire, you can be promoted into a role with more responsibility, different job title, and more pay."

Theme 4: Personal Relationships

Personal relationships were the second most mentioned theme in the interviews. Communication, again, was essential to get to a personal relationship, but all participants stressed the importance of authenticity and honesty in communication with their teams to build personal relationships. P4 stated, "it takes time to build a relationship, but it is important that my team knows that I genuinely care about them." Due to COVID protocols, a more recent strategy was moving to work from home, which created more complex environments for managers. They wanted to ensure they were still coming across as authentic, genuine, and caring toward their team, but as P4 pointed out, "it was much harder to get to know my team personally when I cannot see nonverbal cues." P2 agreed that "hybrid work environments have added some complexities for the manager, but from a personal standpoint, it has been a huge engager for the team." Two-factor theory includes motivators of interpersonal relations and personal life that confirm this strategy's effectiveness in retaining organizational talent (Kelley, 2021).

A strategy that P2, P3, and P4 took was building personal relationships and showing their own humanity. Personal relations are significant to society and there are many relationships of a particular type. There is uniformity among those of a certain type and their effects on their members and environments (Kelley, 2021), including in business. They may be the team's manager, but they still have a life outside the office. P2 said, "I make it a point to attempt to correlate work coaching to life skills. Overall, that creates success both inside and outside of work. Being able to see how success inside the company helps them outside the firm continues to motivate them to do great work." P2 stated that this strategy of personal relationships is not naturally easy for him as an introvert. P2 said, "I see the importance of going outside my comfort zone for the betterment of the employee and the firm."

One strategy that P3 utilizes to create personal relationships is to be responsive no matter the time of day or need. Making their team members a priority and sometimes putting themselves out there and being vulnerable by asking questions that put the employee in the driver's seat. For instance, the participant stated, "if someone on my team comes to me with a problem, I will ask them what they would do if they were the manager; how would they solve the situation?" Prioritization allows them to not only see the participant as a person making a similar decision at a manager level. However, it can also allow employees to put themselves in the manager's shoes. Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs continues to be meaningful and even more important in current environments.

Organizations like this company have been moved to a hybrid work-from-home

environment and cannot always see their manager in person. Therefore, they rely on technology to connect with their manager (Dalai, 2022).

Hygiene factors include company policy and administration, supervision, relationship with supervisor, working conditions, salary, relationship with peers, personal relationship, relationship with subordinates, status, and security. Additional considerations should be considered, such as work factors when the participant is in an organization (Chiat & Panatik, 2019). In addition to personal relationships with their direct employees, all participants acknowledged a personal relationship with their peers to assist them with their growth and development. Two participants had been in people management roles for 18 years and had much experience to share, but they also agreed that they learned a lot from their newer peers as the workforce changed.

I could tie findings to the conceptual framework proving that unmotivated, dissatisfied employees tend to leave a company at far higher rates than motivated, satisfied employees (Saxena et al., 2018). The participants pointed out in multiple responses the importance and emphasis they put on motivating their teams, which matched Herzberg's two-factor theory. I discovered that the literature and conceptual framework two-factory theory of motivation developed by Herzberg et al. (1959) aligned with the participant's strategies through common themes in the interview. Four common themes that managers of call centers used to decrease voluntary turnover where the themes aligned with Herzberg's hygiene factors and motivational factors (Herzberg, 1968). Including effective business practices that included a relationship with a supervisor through a regular one-on-one session and personal relationships with their

manager as each participant noted their goal was always to get to know their team on a personal level and be vulnerable.

In addition to being able to tie Herberg's theory of motivation to the participant's success, Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation was also confirmed. With Vroom's expectancy theory, individuals make decisions based on the option that will lead to the most desirable personal outcome that optimizes pleasure and minimizes pain (Zboja et al., 2020) can be tied to the findings. Managers in this participant group specifically asked questions to their team in one-on-one sessions to help identify goals for motivation. In turn, one participant created a career path to assist in motivating their team for a more desirable personal outcome of an exciting new job title and more pay. Promotions and pay reflect personal relationships because the manager takes time to identify their personal goals, act on them, and eventually reward them and motivate them for a more prosperous life outside the firm due to more pay.

Applications to Professional Practice

This qualitative case study was meaningful for understanding strong leadership strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. In this study, I explored the strategies managers of call centers used to reduce turnover through communication, culture, motivation, and personal relationships. The study will assist in cutting down the cost to replace one call center employee, estimated to be over \$6,000, due to recruiting, hiring, training, and additional supervisory time.

Managers must understand the importance of strategies they can use to maintain and engage employees in their firm because ineffective management in call centers

disrupts associates' motivation and engagement, leading to excessive employee turnover (Dhanpat et al., 2018). According to Herzberg's two-factor motivation theory, the presence of hygiene factors does not increase motivation, but a lack of hygiene factors leads to dissatisfaction (Ozsoy, 2019). If managers understand hygiene factors and how a lack of them can cause a turnover, they can assist their company in retention.

Successful strategies in the call center industry identified in this study are crucial to professional practice. Managers can impact their firm's overall success through the strategies they use every day with their teams. The strategies may help decrease voluntary turnover from their firm, increase productivity, increase engagement, and increase overall motivation allowing the employees to serve their clients better.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for managers of call centers to create increased financial stability for their employees, improve local economic conditions, and reduce the unemployment rates in their communities. Managers and leaders of call centers can improve community prosperity by reducing employee turnover (Saxena et al., 2018). Business managers who experience low employee turnover can provide the societal benefits of reduced local unemployment rates, excellent stability of their local economies, and improved financial stability for their employees and families (Stephan et al., 2016).

In addition to economics, capturing and understanding the different ways to reform social stigma or norms in the workplace will help change personal experiences in organizations. The most significant social division among American employees is the

gender division of labor and the social stigma behind the divide vs. the actual work at hand (Purcell, 2018). Unemployment itself is a product of this divide socially, leading to employment or, in turn, unemployment based solely on social aspects instead of the entire body of knowledge, skill, and motivation (Boyd, 2021). Understanding these social impacts and strategies leaders use to retain talent will provide stable employment in our communities.

Recommendations for Action

Call center managers could utilize the findings of my research to decrease turnover. Spending money on recruiting, training, and efficiencies or knowledge lost through turnover can cause firms to miss out on revenue. This study indicates four strategies to assist team managers of a call center in retaining employees by communicating effectively with their team, peers, and corporate leaders. Managers can motivate their team members based on their individual goals. Managers can create a culture where employees want to come to work.

Moreover, managers can create personal relationships with their team through regular touchpoints and authenticity. Implementing these strategies could directly impact employee satisfaction and retention in the firm. Herzberg et al.'s two-factor theory of motivation is an effective lens for this strategy because managers will recognize that motivation and hygiene factors affect the rate of employee turnover.

Call centers have a reputation for generating high-pressure work environments with high turnover rates (Baek & Lee, 2018). I recommend that managers in call centers first identify why employees leave a call center or, more specifically, leave their firm.

Herzberg et al. (1959) provided a two-factor theory to offer additional research for understanding the reasons for employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction. Unmotivated, dissatisfied employees tend to leave a company at far higher rates than motivated, satisfied employees (Saxena et al., 2018). If companies adopt and implement the understanding of motivation through education to create satisfaction in their team, they will begin to see less turnover. My second recommendation is for managers to understand the importance of employee satisfaction and create a plan to measure or evaluate the satisfaction of their team. Managers can identify how well this is going by conducting satisfaction surveys regularly or providing an avenue for employees to provide feedback on how to promote satisfaction in the workplace (Ceblano et al., 2019). Managers in call centers should create an environment where employees enjoy coming to work and servicing their clients (Ro & Lee, 2017). Lastly, I recommend that managers focus on the themes from this study which include communication, motivation, culture, and building personal relationships.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative single case study is to explore the strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. One limitation of this study was the small sample size from a single region in the United States with a limited scope of data that determined the quality of the research. Another limitation is that participants needed to fully recall past experiences or, through lapses in memory or judgment, may have contributed to less than comprehensive data.

The participants for this study were all from a single firm in Omaha, Nebraska. Different regions of the country may present different findings based on culture, diversity, and work ethic. All participants also came from the same firm where culture tends to be similar across peer groups due to day-to-day interactions with each other. Although the sample size was five and allowed for in-depth research, additional managers could also have offered unique strategies not identified by the selected participants.

Participants who may not have entirely recalled their experience or had a lapse of memory may have benefited from additional participants who did recall their experiences that were similar or different. Writing case studies that allow managers more time to recall an experience or identify examples may allow for more in-depth case studies. Although managers were provided with the questions ahead of time to prepare, allowing them the time to think through and write down their answers might allow for more particular situations.

Reflections

The motivation for my research topic was based on my experience as an aspiring manager program consultant and new manager onboarding consultant. In that program, aspiring managers were often eager to lead teams but needed more strategies and experience to retain them long-term. I was determined to identify strategies to help future call center team managers on what to expect and prepare them through education. Most employees in the aspiring manager program had no experience as call center managers but aspired to be one. Therefore, they needed a complete understanding of the strategies

and why call center engagement and retention are crucial for a successful company. They play a large, if not the largest, role in that success. The new manager onboarding was much the same, but they had landed a manager role and needed a toolbox of knowledge to prepare them for what they will encounter almost immediately in their new role.

My doctoral business administration journey was difficult. I would be dishonest if I said I had not given up many times but did not allow myself to quit the program. I would take a few days off and then think about the end goal and what it would mean to the people cheering me on for so long. Since the program's start, I have helped my mother and grandmother through breast cancer. I went through a pandemic where I homeschooled my 3rd grader and middle school student for 1 ½ years. During the pandemic, I lost a cousin to COVID and my grandmother. This program allowed me to see my strength, and for that, I am grateful.

Once I received approval to begin my study, I knew I could see the light and would see the program through. The participants themselves renewed my desire to keep going. I started on this phenomenon by hearing about their experiences, analyzing their responses, and seeing the big picture of people management. I am incredibly thankful for them taking the time to meet with me and help me on my journey, especially during a hectic time. I utilized their time and experience after setting up the interview, completing triangulation, and following the interview protocol. They continued to support my study through the interview and during member checking.

Completing this study and the doctorate program has given me more self-esteem to realize I can do anything I want. It motivates me to think about what comes next and

where I can take what I have learned here and in my own 15 years of experience in business to share my knowledge and expertise. The strategies and this study will help call center managers in their goal to retain employees in their firm if they take the time to invest in their employees through the strategies I have outlined.

Conclusion

Ineffective management in call centers disrupts associates' motivation and engagement, leading to excessive employee turnover (Dhanpat et al., 2018). Managers who develop and implement strategies to reduce employee turnover are critical for the success of any company, size, and call center worldwide. This qualitative single case study aimed to explore the strategies managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover. Moreover, to answer the research question, what strategies do managers of call centers use to reduce employee turnover?

Managers from a single call center in Omaha, Nebraska, participated in a semistructured virtual meeting interview. I also reviewed the company employee handbook to enhance the manager's experience responses. Four themes emerged from the interview after collecting and analyzing the data: communication, motivation, culture, and personal relationships. This research study's findings indicated that leaders who purposefully create retention strategies successfully retain knowledge in their firms. They are also successful at saving the company from unnecessary spending to recruit and train new employees. Lastly, there are positive impacts on their communities through employment and prosperity.

References

- Abts, K., Dalle Mulle, E., van Kessel, S., & Michel, E. (2021). The welfare agenda of the populist radical right in Western Europe: Combining welfare chauvinism, producerism and populism. *Swiss Political Science Review*, 27(1), 21-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/spsr.12428
- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98.

 https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Adams, C., & van Manen, M. A. (2017). Teaching phenomenological research and writing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 780-791.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317698960
- Adhabi, E. A. R., & Anozie, C. B. L. (2017). Literature review for the type of interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 86-97. https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v9i3.11483
- Aguinis, H., & Solarino, A. M. (2019). Transparency and replicability in qualitative research: The case of interviews with elite informants. *Strategic Management Journal*, 40(8), 1291-1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3015
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Albalawi, A. S., Naugton, S., Elayan, M. B., & Sleimi, M. T. (2019). Perceived

- organizational support, alternative job opportunity, organizational commitment, job satisfaction and turnover intention: A moderated-mediated model. *Organizacija*, 52(4), 310-324. https://doi.org/10.2478/orga-2019-0019
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Le Navenec, C. L. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory methodology. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(1), 245-261. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13
- Aliyu, O. A., & Nyadzayo, M. W. (2016). Reducing employee turnover intention: A customer relationship management perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 26(3), 241-257. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254x.2016.1195864
- Amanda, R. I. (2019). The impact of cash turnover, receivable turnover, inventory turnover, current ratio and debt to equity ratio on profitability. *Journal of Research in Management*, 2(2), 14-22. http://irs-managementstudies.com/index.php/irs
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 26-28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Andersen, P. H., Dubois, A., & Lind, F. (2018). Process validation: Coping with three dilemmas in process-based single-case research. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 33(4), 539–549. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-07-2016-0152
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: perceptions and experiences of

- researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 18*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arpey, N. C., Gaglioti, A. H., & Rosenbaum, M. E. (2017). How socioeconomic status affects patient perceptions of health care: A qualitative study. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 8(3), 169-175.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2150131917697439
- Baek, J. T., & Lee, H. Y. (2018). The mediating effects of self-efficacy and organizational commitment in the relationship between emotional labor, occupational stress and depression in a call center counselor. *Journal of the Korea Academia-Industrial cooperation Society*, 19(10), 290-299.

 https://doi.org/10.5762/kais.2013.14.10.5069
- Barsade, S. G., Coutifaris, C. G., & Pillemer, J. (2018). Emotional contagion in organizational life. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *38*, 137-151. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2018.11.005
- Banagou, M., Batistič, S., Do, H., & Poell, R. F. (2021). Relational climates moderate the effect of openness to experience on knowledge hiding: A two-country multi-level study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. 25(11), 60-87

 http://doi/10.1108/JKM-11-2019-0613
- Belotto, M. (2018). Data Analysis methods for qualitative research: Managing the challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622-2633. http://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a

- qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1), 21-23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Bibi, P., Ahmad, A., & Majid, A. H. A. (2018). The impact of training and development and supervisor support on employee's retention in academic institutions: The moderating role of work environment. *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business*, 20(1), 113-131. https://doi.org/10.22146/gamaijb.24020
- Biros, M. (2018). Capacity, vulnerability, and informed consent for research. *Journal of law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(1), 72-78. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518766021
- Boyd, R. (2021). Work, employment and unemployment after AI 1. In The Routledge

 Social Science Handbook of AI (pp. 74-90). Routledge.

 https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429198533-6
- Brady, K. J., Ni, P., Sheldrick, R. C., Trockel, M. T., Shanafelt, T. D., Rowe, S. G., ... & Kazis, L. E. (2020). Describing the emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and low personal accomplishment symptoms associated with Maslach Burnout Inventory subscale scores in US physicians: An item response theory analysis.

 **Journal of Patient-reported Outcomes, 4(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-020-00204-x
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semistructured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2017.1379987

- Burnett, J. R., & Lisk, T. C. (2019). The future of employee engagement: Real-time monitoring and digital tools for engaging a workforce. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 49(1), 108-119. https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.2019.1565097
- Butt, A. S., & Ahmad, A. B. (2019). Are there any antecedents of top-down knowledge hiding in firms? Evidence from the United Arab Emirates. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(8), 1605-1627. https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-04-2019-0204
- Campbell, M. (2021). Tomorrow's call center will be neither: Not call focused, nor centralized. *Computer*, *54*(2), 66-69. https://doi.org/10.1109/mc.2020.3042226
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss3/14
- Cardno, C. (2019). Policy document analysis: A practical educational leadership tool and a qualitative research method. *Educational Administration: Theory and Practice*, 24(4), 623-640. http://doi.org/10.14527/kuey.2018.016
- Carroll, J. E. (2016). Exploring historical 'frameworks' as a curriculum goal: A case study examining students' notions of historical significance when using millennia-wide time scales. *The Curriculum Journal*, 27(4), 454-478. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585176.2016.1191362
- Ceblano, K. A. B., Ofalia, B. C., & Quinto, E. J. M. (2019). Predicting turnover intention among inbound call center workers in the Philippines. *Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities*, 27(2), 1339-1356. http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

- Chianese, F., & Di Maio, C. (2021). Is multiculturalism who America is?. JAm

 It!(Journal of American Studies in Italy), (4), 5-15. https://doi.org/10.13135/2612-5641/5825
- Chakraborty, A. & Goto, H. (2020). Visualizing data saturation process in mapping site amplification of earthquake ground motions. *Journal of Natural Disaster Science*, 40(2), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.2328/jnds.40.14
- Da Cruz, M. (2018). Offshore migrant workers: Return migrants in Mexico's English-speaking call centers. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 4(1), 39-57. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2018.4.1.03
- Dalai, M. K. (2022). Maslow's Hierarchy of needs: is it still relevant in post pandemic world or needs revisit? Indian Institute of Management Calcutta, 4(4), 41-96. https://ir.iimcal.ac.in:8443/jspui/handle/123456789/4196
- De Clercq, D. (2021). Getting nowhere, going elsewhere: the impact of perceived career compromises on turnover intentions. *Personnel Review*, *51*(2), 662-682. https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-08-2020-0603
- Dhanpat, N., Modau, F. D., Lugisani, P., Mabojane, R., & Phiri, M. (2018). Exploring employee retention and intention to leave within a call centre. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*(0), 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.905
- Ding, S., & Koole, G. (2022). Optimal call center forecasting and staffing. *Probability in the Engineering and Informational Sciences*, *36*(2), 254-263. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0269964820000595

- Doellgast, V., & O'Brady, S. (2020). Making call center jobs better: The relationship between management practices and worker stress. *The Korean Data Analysis Society*, 22(4), 1401-1411. https://doi.org/10.37727/jkdas.2020.22.4.1401
- Drissi, E., Boulbaroud, S., Hami, H., Ahami, A., & Azzaoui, F. Z. (2021). Burnout among call center staff in the Rabat Sale Kenitra Region. *E3S Web**Conferences 319(1074). https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202131901074
- Dzwigol, H. (2020). Methodological and empirical platform of triangulation in strategic management. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 19(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.29119/1641-3466.2020.148.12
- Echchakoui, S., & Baakil, D. (2019). Emotional exhaustion in offshore call centers: A comparative study. *Journal of Global Marketing*, *32*(1), 17-36. https://10.1080/08911762.2018.1427293
- Edwards, M. A., & Roy, S. (2017). Academic research in the 21st century: Maintaining scientific integrity in a climate of perverse incentives and hyper-competition.

 *Environmental Engineering Science, 34(1), 51–61.

 https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2016.0223
- Eneizan, B., Taamneh, M., Enaizan, O., Almaaitah, M., Ngah, A., & Alsakarneh, A. (2021). Human resources practices and job satisfaction on customer satisfaction:

 The mediating role of quality of customer interaction in online call center.

 International Journal of Data and Network Science, 5(1), 11-18.

 https://doi.org/10.5267/j.ijdns.2020.12.001
- Foktas, P., & Jucevičienė, P. (2021). Which motivational theories are suitable to motivate

- employees belonging to generation Y?. *In Eurasian Business and Economics*Perspectives (pp. 249-264). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71869-5 16
- Frare, A. B., & Beuren, I. M. (2021). Fostering individual creativity in startups:

 Comprehensive performance measurement systems, role clarity and strategic flexibility. *European Business Review*, *33*(6), 869-891.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ebr-11-2020-0262
- Frenzel, J., & Smaltz, H. (2017). Big data advanced topics. *Demystifying Big Data and Machine Learning for Healthcare*, 82(1), 67–75.

 https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315389325-6
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923-941. https://doi.org/10.5590/josc.2018.10.1.02
- Geiger, T., & Pivovarova, M. (2018). The effects of working conditions on teacher retention. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(6), 604-625.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1457524
- Gibson, C. B. (2017). Elaboration, generalization, triangulation, and interpretation: On enhancing the value of mixed method research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 193-223. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116639133
- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to quantitative research and data. *Library Technology Reports*, *53*(4), 12-18. https://doi.org/10.5860/ltr.53n4
- Grant, A.M., O'Connor, S.A. & Studholme, I. (2019) Towards a positive psychology of

- buildings and workplace community: The positive built workplace environment. *Int J Appl Posit Psychol*, 2019(4), 67–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41042-019-00019-2
- Grymes, T. (2021). Stay Woke: Using Professional Development to Increase White Elementary Teachers' Sense of Self-Efficacy in Using Multicultural Literature Inside of the Classroom (Doctoral dissertation, Saint Joseph's University).
- Groom, Q., Dillen, M., Hardy, H., Phillips, S., Willemse, L., & Wu, Z. (2019). Improved standardization of transcribed digital specimen data. *The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation*, 2019(129), 1-14.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baz129
- Gupta, A., Ponticelli, J., & Tesei, A. (2020). Information, technology adoption and productivity: The role of mobile phones in agriculture (No. w27192). *National Bureau of Economic Research*. https://doi.org/10.3386/w27192
- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 21-24. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13
- Hatfield, E., Rapson, R. L., & Narine, V. (2018). Emotional contagion in organizations: Cross-cultural perspectives. In Individual, Relational, and Contextual Dynamics of Emotions. Emerald Publishing Limited, 24, 245-258). https://doi.org/10.1108/s1746-979120180000014019
- Harter, J. (2020). 4 factors driving record-high employee engagement in US. Gallup. com.

- Hayashi Jr, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98-112. https://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Head, G. (2020). Ethics in educational research: Review boards, ethical issues and researcher development. *European Educational Research Journal*, 19(1), 72-83. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474904118796315
- Herzberg, F. (1968). One more time: How do you motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, 46(1), 53-62. http://hbr.org/
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., Synderman, B. (1959). The motivation to work. Wiley.
- Hill O'Connor, C., & Baker, R. (2017). Working with and for social enterprises: The role of the volunteer ethnographer. *Social Enterprise Journal*, *13*, 180-193. https://doi.org/10.1108/SEJ-07-2016-0033
- Hodder, A. (2020). New Technology, Work and Employment in the era of COVID-19: reflecting on legacies of research. *New Technology, Work and Employment, 35*(3), 262-275. https://doi.org/10.1111/ntwe.12173
- Hopkins, R. M., Regehr, G., & Pratt, D. D. (2017). A framework for negotiating positionality in phenomenological research. *Medical teacher*, *39*(1), 20-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2017.1245854
- Hong, Q. N., Gonzalez-Reyes, A., & Pluye, P. (2018). Improving the usefulness of a tool for appraising the quality of qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods studies, the mixed methods appraisal tool (MMAT). *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, 24(3), 459-467. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12884

- House, J. (2018). Authentic vs elicited data and qualitative vs quantitative research methods in pragmatics: Overcoming two non-fruitful dichotomies. *System*, 75(2018), 4-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014
- Hu, K., Allon, G., & Bassamboo, A. (2021). Understanding customer retrials in call centers: Preferences for service quality and service speed. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 24(2), 1002-1020.
 https://doi.org/10.1287/msom.2021.0976
- Hughes, L., Dwivedi, Y. K., Misra, S. K., Rana, N. P., Raghavan, V., & Akella, V.
 (2019). Blockchain research, practice and policy: Applications, benefits,
 limitations, emerging research themes and research agenda. *International Journal of Information Management*, 49, 114–129.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.02.005
- Ibrahim, S. N. H., Suan, C. L., & Karatepe, O. M. (2019). The effects of supervisor support and self-efficacy on call center employees' work engagement and quitting intentions. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(4), 688-703

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijm-12-2017-0320
- Irawan, D. E. (2018). RDM policy and data archiving at university level--technical bits-an example from ITB. *Figshare* https://doi.org/10.6084M9
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138-146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Joplin, T., Greenbaum, R. L., Wallace, J. C., & Edwards, B. D. (2021). Employee

entitlement, engagement, and performance: The moderating effect of ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *168*(4), 813-826. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04246-0

- Jose, R. J. S., Minh, H. T. T., Ullah, S. E., & Sadiq, M. (2021). Enhancing Staff's Work

 Motivation in Vietnamese Companies. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education (TURCOMAT)*, 12(14), 4402-4410.

 https://turcomat.org/index.php/turkbilmat/article/view/11325
- Kamanzi, A., & Romania, M. (2019). Rethinking confidentiality in qualitative research in the era of big data. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63(6), 743-758. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219826222
- Karkkola, P., Kuittinen, M., & Hintsa, T. (2019). Role clarity, role conflict, and vitality at work: The role of the basic needs. *Scandinavian journal of psychology*, 60(5), 456-463. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12550
- Kasubaski, J. S. (2021). US call center outsourcing strategy. *Organizational Change Leadership*, 7-88. http://digital.library.wisc.edu/1793/81136
- Kelley, H. H. (2021). Personal relationships: Their nature and significance in the emerging field of personal relationships. *Routledge*, 7, 3-19. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003164005-2
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2016). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Krishnan, S., Wang, J., Wu, E., Franklin, M. J., & Goldberg, K. (2016). Activeclean:

- Interactive data cleaning for statistical modeling. *VLDB Endowment*, *9*(12), 948-959. https://doi.org/10.14778/2994509.2994514
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012
- Kyngäs, H., Kääriäinen, M., & Elo, S. (2019). The Trustworthiness of Content Analysis.

 The Application of Content Analysis in Nursing Science Research, 1, 41–48.

 http://doi:10.1007/978-3-030-30199-6_5
- Kumwilaisak, W., Phikulngoen, S., Piriyataravet, J., Thatphithakkul, N., &
 Hansakunbuntheung, C. (2022). Adaptive Call Center Workforce Management
 With Deep Neural Network and Reinforcement Learning. *IEEE Access*, 10,
 35712-35724. https://doi.org/10.1109/access.2022.3160452
- Lalwani, S., & Lalwani, S. (2017). Relevance of Herzberg's hygiene theory in today's context: An analysis of motivators and hygiene factors in present scenario in Indian context. *Singaporean Journal of Business, Economics and Management Studies*, 51(122), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.12816/0037247
- Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2012). Qualitative descriptive research: An acceptable design. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, *16*, 255-256. https://www.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/PRIJNR/index
- Langer, M., König, C. J., & Krause, K. (2017). Examining digital interviews for personnel selection: Applicant reactions and interviewer ratings. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 25(4), 371–382.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12191

- Larsson, J., Williams, P., & Zetterqvist, A. (2019). The challenge of conducting ethical research in preschool. *Early Child Development and Care*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2019.1625897
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P., Eberly, M., & Li, J. J. (2018). Managing employee retention and turnover with 21st century ideas. *Organizational Dynamics*, 47(2), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.08.004
- Liu, C. H. S., & Huang, Y. C. (2020). The influence of transformational leadership on subordinate creative behaviour development process. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *36*, 100742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2020.100742
- Luciani M, Campbell K, Tschirhart H, Ausili D, Jack SM. (2019). How to design a qualitative health research study. Part 1: Design and purposeful sampling considerations. *European Journal of Nursing Science*, 72(2), 152-161. https://10.31550432
- Marasan, R. B. (2021). A principal's leadership excellence though disposition of attributes. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education* (TURCOMAT), 12(11), 5360-5371. https://doi.org/10.17762/turcomat.v12i3.1019
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical teacher*, *41*(9), 1002-1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1497149
- Marcatto, F., Di Blas, L., Luis, O., Festa, S., & Ferrante, D. (2021). The Perceived

Occupational Stress Scale: A brief tool for measuring workers' perceptions of stress at work. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000677

- Marinakou, E., & Giousmpasoglou, C. (2019). Talent management and retention strategies in luxury hotels: evidence from four countries. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-10-2018-0862
- Mergel, I., Edelmann, N., & Haug, N. (2019). Defining digital transformation: Results from expert interviews. *Government Information Quarterly*, *36*(4), 1-16 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.06.002
- Mikalef, P., Boura, M., Lekakos, G., & Krogstie, J. (2019). Big data analytics and firm performance: Findings from a mixed-method approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 98, 261-276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.044
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report: The triple crown of research ethics.

 *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing, 35(4), 223-228.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.000000000000186
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Moldoveanu, M., & Narayandas, D. (2019). The future of leadership development.

 *Harvard Business Review, 97(2), 40-48. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781503629813

 National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

- Behavioral Research (NCPHSBBR). (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Nazli, M. (2020). Customer Representatives' Competence of Call Center Employees: An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Academic Tourism*, *5*(1), 11-16. https://doi.org/10.31822/jomat.671224
- Nevill, R. E., & Havercamp, S. M. (2019). Effects of mindfulness, coping styles and resilience on job retention and burnout in caregivers supporting aggressive adults with developmental disabilities. *Journal of intellectual disability research*, 63(5), 441-453. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12594
- Nguyen, C. (2020). The impact of training and development, job satisfaction and job performance on young employee retention. *Job Satisfaction and Job Performance on Young Employee Retention* (May 1, 2020).

 https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3930645
- Nicolaides, A. (2016). Bioethical considerations, the common good approach and some shortfalls of the Belmont Report. *Medical Technology SA*, 30(1), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.30.24.9.s8
- Ogbeibu, S., Jabbour, C. J. C., Burgess, J., Gaskin, J., & Renwick, D. W. (2021). Green talent management and turnover intention: the roles of leader STARA competence

- and digital task interdependence. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 23(1), 27-55. https://doi.org/10.1108/jic-01-2021-0016
- Pérez-Luño, A., Saparito, P., & Gopalakrishnan, S. (2016). Small and medium-sized enterprise's entrepreneurial versus market orientation and the creation of tacit knowledge. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *54*(1), 262-278.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12144
- Pink, S. (2016). Digital ethnography. *Innovative Methods in Media and Communication**Research, 4(2) 161-165. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-40700-5_1
- Prasetyo, I., Aliyyah, N., Rusdiyanto, R., Utari, W., Suprapti, S., Winarko, R., ... & Kalbuana, N. (2021). Effects of organizational communication climate and employee retention toward employee performance. *Journal of Legal, Ethical and Regulatory Issues*, 24(1), 1-11. http://doi:10.47577/tssj.v27i1.5548
- Prodanova, J., & Kocarev, L. (2021). Employees' dedication to working from home in times of COVID-19 crisis. *Management Decision*, 60(3) 509-530. https://doi.org/10.1108/md-09-2020-1256
- Qin, Y. S., & Men, L. R. (2021). Why does listening matter inside the organization? The impact of internal listening on employee-organization relationships. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, *33*(5), 365-386.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726x.2022.2034631
- Raies, A., & BEN MIMOUN, M. (2021). Laying off versus training workers: how can Saudi entrepreneurs manage the COVID-19 crisis?. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 8(4), 673-685. http://doi:10.13106/jafeb.2021

- Ramlo, S. E. (2020). Divergent viewpoints about the statistical stage of a mixed method:

 Qualitative versus quantitative orientations. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 43(1), 93-111.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2019.1626365
- Reyes, V. (2020). Ethnographic toolkit: Strategic positionality and researchers' visible and invisible tools in field research. *Ethnography*, 21(2), 220-240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138118805121
- Ro, H., & Lee, J. E. (2017). Call center employees' intent to quit: Examination of job engagement and role clarity. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18(4), 531-543. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008x.2017.1292163
- Saleem, M. A., Bhutta, Z. M., Nauman, M., & Zahra, S. (2019). Enhancing performance and commitment through leadership and empowerment. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *37*(1), 303–322. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijbm-02-2018-0037
- Sato, H. (2018). Are call centers sweatshops? *Annals of Business Administrative Science*, 17(5), 193-202. https://doi.org/10.7880/abas.0180830a
- Saxena, R. K., Aggarwal, S., & Aggarwal, A. (2018). Operations analytics: Call center optimization. *Asian Journal of Multidimensional Research (AJMR)*, 7(7), 161-172. https://www.indianjournals.com
- Shufutinsky, A. (2020). Employing use of self for transparency, rigor, trustworthiness, and credibility in qualitative organizational research methods. *OD Practitioner*, 52(1), 50-58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428119865016
- Sinclair, S., Jaggi, P., Hack, T. F., McClement, S. E., Raffin-Bouchal, S., & Singh, P.

- (2018). Assessing the credibility and transferability of the patient compassion model in non-cancer palliative populations. *BMC palliative care*, *17*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-018-0358-5
- Sull, D., Sull, C., & Zweig, B. (2022). Toxic culture is driving the great resignation. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 63(2), 1-9.

 https://www.acmpnorcalchapter.org/changemanagement-articles
- Sutrop, M., & Lõuk, K. (2020). Informed consent and ethical research. *Handbook of Research Ethics and Scientific Integrity*, 213–232. https://10.1007/978-3-030-16759-2_8
- Stefanovska-Petkovska, M., Petrovska, I., Bojadziev, M., Schaeffer, I., & Tomovska-Misoska, A. (2019). The effects of organizational culture and dimensions on job satisfaction and work-life balance. *Montenegrin Journal of Economics*, 15(1), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.14254/1800-5845/2019.15-1.8
- Stephan, U., Patterson, M., Kelly, C., & Mair, J. (2016). Organizations driving positive social change. *Journal of Management*, 42(5), 1250-1281. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316633268
- Stewart, C., Nodoushani, O., & Stumpf, J. (2018, July). Cultivating employees using Maslow's hierarchy of needs. *Competition Forum: American Society for Competitiveness*, (16)2, 67-75
- Sykes, B. L., Ballard, M., Giuffre, A., Goodsell, R., Kaiser, D., Mata, V. C., & Sola, J. (2022). Robbing Peter to pay Paul: Public assistance, monetary sanctions, and financial double-dealing in America. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal*

- of the Social Sciences, 8(1), 148-178. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2022.8.1.07
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 82, 71-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative research in psychology, 14*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Tingaz, E. O. (2020). The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic on elite athletes, management strategies and post-pandemic performance expectations: A semi structured interview study. *International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation*, (15), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.46661/ijeri.4863
- Turner, J. R., & Baker, R. (2018). A review of leadership theories: identifying a lack of growth in the HRD leadership domain. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 42(7), 470-498. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejtd-06-2018-0054
- Uslu, O. (2019). A general overview to leadership theories from a critical perspective. *Маркетинг і менеджемент інновацій, (1),* 161-172.

 https://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2019.1-13
- Valk, R., & Yousif, L. (2021). "Going beyond to deliver hip hospitality": Exploring motivation and job satisfaction of hospitality workers in Dubai. *International*

- Journal of Organizational Analysis. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijoa-12-2020-2517
- Valle, M. A., Ruz, G. A., & Masias, V. A. (2017). Using self-organizing maps to model turnover of sales agents in a call center. *Applied Soft Computing*, 60(2017), 763-774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2017.03.011
- Van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I Can't Get No) Saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(7), e0181689. https://10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1). https://10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Weller, S. (2017). Using internet video calls in qualitative (longitudinal) interviews:

 Some implications for rapport. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 20(6), 613-625. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1269505
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45-55. http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
- Wolgemuth, J. R., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: A critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*, 46(3), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x17703946
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial

- populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, *23*(11), 2700-2713. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Sage Publications, Inc.
- Young, C., Zubrzycki, J., & Plath, D. (2020). The slow interview? Developing key principles and practices. *Qualitative Research*, 21(4), 481-497. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794120935300
- Yücel, İ. (2021). Transformational Leadership and Turnover Intentions: The Mediating Role of Employee Performance during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Administrative Sciences*, 11(3), 81. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci11030081
- Zhu, H., Yu, B., Halfaker, A., & Terveen, L. (2018). Value-sensitive algorithm design:

 Method, case study, and lessons. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2(CSCW), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1145/3274463
- Zboja, J. J., Jackson, R. W., & Grimes-Rose, M. (2020). An expectancy theory perspective of volunteerism: the roles of powerlessness, attitude toward charitable organizations, and attitude toward helping others. *International Review on Public and Nonprofit Marketing*, 17(4), 493-507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12208-020-00260-5
- Zyphur, M. J., & Pierides, D. C. (2017). Is quantitative research ethical? Tools for ethically practicing, evaluating, and using quantitative research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 143(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview preparation. To prepare for the interview I have received current call center manager names and phone numbers from Laura Rogers, the Human Resources business partner within TD Ameritrade. I will reach out to the five managers requesting their participation. If agreed, I will send the consent form within a video conference meeting request.

Interview

"Welcome to the interview process for this research study. The goal of this research study is to understand strategies used by call center leadership to engage their employees. The main goal of this study is to gain an in-depth understanding of call center leadership's role in enhancing employee satisfaction and its impact on the financial success of the organization through retention.

I will be asking open-ended questions to allow you to talk about your experience. Please feel free to add your reflections and additional comments. I may ask additional probing questions for more detail. You can address the question and add additional information as we move forward through the interview. While we speak, I will be recording your responses for transcription. I will also be writing down notes about our interactions. You will receive a copy of all the materials for your review and agreement."

Questions include:

- 1. What strategies have you found most effective in reducing employee turnover?
- 2. How do you measure the effectiveness of strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 3. What were the principal issues in your workplace considered for developing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 4. How did your employees react to your strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 5. What key challenges did you encounter in implementing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 6. How did you overcome the challenges associated with implementing the strategies to reduce employee turnover?

- 7. How do you promote the strategies to reduce employee turnover in the organization?
- 8. What additional information can you offer about the strategies you use to reduce employee turnover?

Conclusion:

Thank the participant for their time and openness.

Describe the next steps:

- Deletion of the interview recording immediately after transcription
- Request for documents:

Examples of the documents that may be useful:

- Coaching documentation
- Examples of service level requirements in the call center
- Employee handbook sections

Schedule follow up call.

Q&A

Thank the participant and close the interview.